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Lombard Medical Technologies PLC (LMT) is a fast growing 
innovative medical technology company with expertise 
in design, manufacture and commercialisation of cutting 
edge endovascular products. 

Lombard Medical’s flagship product, Aorfix™ endovascular 
stent graft, addresses previously unmet clinical need for 
a conformable and flexible graft in the rapidly developing 
global abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) market. 

Aorfix™ combines a pioneering design and technology 
that result in outstanding clinical performance in EVAR 
(Endovascular Aortic Repair) patients with complex anatomy.

The only endovascular stent graft approved in EU to 
treat complex aneurysms up to 90°, Aorfix™ broadens 
clinicians’ treatment options and opens opportunities for 
treating more patients less invasively with EVAR. 

Over 1,600 patients worldwide have been treated with 
Aorfix™ and a growing body of clinical evidence confirms 
that Aorfix™ reduces EVAR complications such as proximal 
endoleaks, graft migration and iliac occlusion in patients 
with both standard and complex AAA anatomies. 

Directors
John Rush Non-executive Chairman 

Simon Hubbert Chief Executive Officer

Tim Hall Finance Director

Peter Phillips Chief Technology Officer

Simon Neathercoat Senior Independent Non-executive Director

Craig Rennie Non-executive Director

Martin Rothman Independent Non-executive Director

Company Secretary
Rhod Jones

Financial Calendar

Annual General Meeting 26 May 2011

Half-year results August 2011

Nominated Adviser and Broker
Evolution Securities Limited 
100 Wood Street 
London BC2V 7AN

Public Relations
FD Limited 
Holborn Gate 
26 Southampton Buildings 
London WC2A 1PB

Solicitors
Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP 
Adelaide House 
London Bridge 
London EC4R 9HA

Patent Agent
Williams Powell 
Morley House 
26-30 Holborn Viaduct 
London EC1A 2BP

Website
www.lombardmedical.com

Annual General Meeting
To be held at: 
Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP 
Adelaide House 
London Bridge 
London EC4R 9HA 
On 26 May 2011 at 10:30 am

Registrars
Capita Registrars 
Northern House 
Woodsome Park 
Fenay Bridge 
Huddersfield HD8 0LA

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
9 Greyfriars Road 
Reading 
Berkshire RG1 1JG

Principal Banker
Barclays Bank PLC 
Wytham Court 
11 West Way 
Oxford, OX2 0JB

Registered Office
Lombard Medical House 
4 Trident Park 
Didcot 
Oxfordshire OX11 7HJ 
Telephone: 01235 750800

Registered Number
04636949

Shareholder Information



Lombard Medical Technologies PLC / Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2010

Bu
si

ne
ss

 P
ro

fil
e

01

H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

Aorfix™ European Commercialisation

• Sales in main European markets increased 99% to £1.5 million 
• H2 sales in main European markets increased 117% to £880,000
• H2 sales in the UK increased 174% 
• Market share in UK increased from 4.7% in 2009 to 8.9% in 2010
• Field force expanded to 4 in the UK (2009: 1) and 2 in Germany 

(2009: nil) 

Aorfix™ Rest of World Commercialisation 

• Distribution agreement signed for $100 million Japanese market
• Sales in ROW markets rose 2% despite adverse economic conditions 

affecting sales in some markets, including Greece

Aorfix™ U.S. Trial and PMA Submission

• Five out of six FDA PMA modules submitted; three approved
• On track to submit final clinical module in H1 2011 as planned

Other Operating Highlights

• Management team further strengthened
• Stent graft production started at Prestwick facility, supported by 

Scottish Enterprise grant
• Two major development projects with respect to Aorfix™ initiated

Financial Highlights 

• Revenues up 28% to £3.0 million (2009: £2.4 million)
• Gross margin increased to 46% (2009: 42%)
• Operating expenses increased 17% to £10.1 million (2009: £8.7 million)

• Investment in sales and marketing up 52% to £2.3 million  
(2009: £1.5 million)

• Investment in R&D up 11% to £5.2 million (2009: £4.7 million)
• Net cash outflow from operating activities grew 15% to £7.6 million 

(2009: £6.7 million)
• Total loss for the year rose 27% (16% for continuing Business) to  

£7.9 million (2009: £6.2 million and £6.8 million for continuing business)
• £13.3 million (£12.1 million net of expenses) successfully raised in 

February 2010 from placing and subscription of shares 

Post Period Events

• Two-tranche placing and subscription for £25.3 million to be 
announced.  First tranche of £11.1 million (£10.4 million net of 
expenses) to be received following shareholder approval; second 
tranche of £14.2 million (£13.6 million net of expenses) to be 
received following FDA approval of Aorfix™

99%
increase in Aorfix™ sales 
to main EU markets

174%
increase in UK sales in  
H2 2011

£13.3m
successfully raised gross 
in February 2010

5of6
FDA PMA modules  
submitted

Performance
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Mission

Core Values

To provide innovative products for the treatment  
of aortic aneurysms which make a difference  
to patients, clinicians and shareholders.

Lombard Medical is fully committed 
to providing outstanding quality, 
service and leading edge technology 
in the specialist field of treatment of 
Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. This 
principle is the cornerstone of our 
philosophy and is inherent to how  
we conduct our Business. 

At the heart of everything we do at 
Lombard Medical are certain core values 
that are shared by all employees:

• Customer focus – improving the quality of 
life of patients through the application of 
sound biomedical engineering principles

• Pride – adhering to state-of-the-art 
development programmes, good 
manufacturing practices and ethical 
distribution policies

• Respect – treating all our employees 
equally and fairly

• Quality –  striving for the highest reliability 
and quality in our products
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During 2010 Lombard Medical has made excellent progress towards the four main strategic 
goals set out in January 2010.

Strategic Goal Progress

Increase commercial sales by focusing resources 
on the main European markets

•      Sales to the main EU markets increased by 99% in 2010 

•      UK sales force increased from 1 to 4 

•      Direct sales force set up in Germany 

•      UK market share increased to 8.9% (2009: 4.7%)

Complete U.S. trial and submissions for FDA 
regulatory approval of Aorfix™ by H1 2011

•      5 of 6 PMA modules submitted 

•      First 3 PMA modules approved

•      Target patient recruitment reached

•      Expect to file the 6th PMA module on clinical
data at the end of H1 2011

Develop a next generation delivery system and 
product line extensions for Aorfix™

•      Two major development projects initiated during 2010

•      Upgrade to current delivery system to be introduced
in 2011

•      Extension to graft size range to be introduced in 2012

•      Lower profile delivery device to be introduced in 2012

Implement operational efficiency improvements •      Stent graft production started at Prestwick facility to   
        increase capacity

•      RSA grant of £200,000 awarded for Prestwick expansion

Strategic 
Overview

growth in UK market share 
(2009-2010)85%
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• The world’s ageing population (AAA 
disease is most prevalent in those over 65)

• Increased diagnosis following the wider 
use of screening

• An increasing preference among patients 
and clinicians for endovascular repair (EVAR) 
rather than the alternative of open surgery

• EVAR is growing vs open repair

• Lower 30-day mortality rate
 (1.2% versus 4.8%)

• Lower incidence of major medical
 complications

• Lower average length of hospital stay
 (3.4 days versus 9.3 days)

• Shorter recovery period (2 weeks vs 12 weeks)

• No need for a general anaesthetic

EVAR market growth driversEVAR market growth 2010-2015

Market
The worldwide market for endovascular stent grafts for the 
treatment of AAA disease is currently worth approximately  
$1.1 billion and is forecast to grow to $1.6 billion by 2015.
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$1.1 
billion

AAA worldwide market (2011)

Bu
si

ne
ss

 P
ro

fil
e

• U.S. & EU = 82% of market

• Asia Pacific = fastest growth

• Japan estimated @ $100m

Global EVAR market geography Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm

•  Occurs when weakened abdominal aorta 
bulges or becomes balloon-like 

•  Epidemiology 

• 4.5 million WW have AAA disease  
(U.S. 1.5 million) 

• 5% - 7% of older men have disease

• 600,000 new cases diagnosed annually 
(U.S. 250,000)

• 200,000 AAA patients treated each year

  15,000 deaths annually in U.S.  

AAA treatment 

•  Untreated AAA can rupture and cause death 

•  AAA < 5cm in diameter = watch and wait 

•  AAA > 5cm = treatment

• Open repair = 60% of procedures

• Minimally invasive EVAR (Endovascular 
Aortic Repair) = 40% of procedures 

Source: Medtech Ventures 2009, iData Research Inc 2010
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Product

Exclusive market position 
Tortuous aneurysmal or iliac anatomy is a 
common EVAR complication which is indicated 
in up to 30% of all AAA patients*. Aorfix™ is 
specifically targeted at this important and 
previously unaddressed segment of the market. 

Unrivalled approval
Aorfix™ is the only endovascular stent graft 
approved in Europe to treat aneurysms in 
complex anatomies with neck angulations  
of up to 90°. 

Superior clinical performance 
Aorfix is proven to reduce EVAR complications 
including 30 day mortality, type I endoleaks, 
graft migration and iliac occlusions**.

Unique product design 
The unique design of Aorfix™ incorporates 
proprietary nitinol rings and a helical scaffold, 
covered by a woven polyester fabric. This 
combination lends itself to graft flexibility that 
conforms to patient’s anatomy in angulated 
necks as well as complex iliac vessels. 

Aorfix™ is the endovascular stent graft of choice  
for patients with tortuous vascular anatomy. 

Proven technology 
Over 1,600 patients have been treated 
with Aorfix™ worldwide. Growing body of 
international published clinical evidence 
supports Aorfix’s clinical safety and efficacy. 

Patented manufacturing process 
Utilising state of the art technology, the 
European manufacturing plant employs a 
computer assisted sewing system that ensures 
accuracy, consistency and process stability. 

* LM data on file, 2010
** RADAR database; Weale et al, JCS 2010
 use of the Aorfix™ stent graft in patients with tortuous 

iliac anatomy, J CARDIOVASC SURG 2010;51;  
A.R.WEALE 1, K. BALASUBRAMANIAM 2, J. HARDMAN 2, 
M. HORROCKS 1; Department of Vascular Surgery, Royal 

United Hospital Coombe Park, Bath BA1 3NG, UK

Aorfix™
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After Aorfix™

Aortic 
Aneurysm

Before Aorfix™

85o 

angle

1
Unique product

Aorfix™ clinical data vs competitor products
(1 year’s results)

Monitored 
events

Lombard 
Aorfix™

Cook 
Zenith

Gore 
Excluder

Medtronic 
Talent

All mortality 3.8% 6.3% 7.2% 6.5%

Stent graft 
migration 0.6% 0.0% 2.3% 0.8%

Endoleaks 1.3% 3.0% 1.3% 6.6%
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Overview
2010 was a highly successful  
year for Lombard Medical with key 
goals achieved, funds raised to 
finance its business plan and the 
management team strengthened.

In February 2010 the Company successfully 
completed a fundraising of £13.3 million 
before expenses to pursue its strategy during 
2010 and 2011 to:

• Expand sales in key European markets 
through the expansion of the European 
sales and marketing infrastructure;

• Pursue FDA approval for Aorfix™ in the U.S. 
by completing the U.S. clinical trial and 
filing the remaining PMA module;

• Develop a next generation delivery system 
for Aorfix™; and 

• Improve operational efficiency.

The Company made excellent progress against 
all these objectives during 2010 as noted in the 
Business Review on pages 10 to 13. The increase 
in market share achieved in the UK in particular 
validated the decision made in 2009 not to 
seek a commercialisation partner for Aorfix™ 
but to market directly in key European markets 
and in the U.S. following regulatory approval. 

Investment
I am pleased that two healthcare specialist 
venture capital funds, Abingworth LLP and 
MVM Life Science Partners LLP, along with 
other major existing shareholders, have 

agreed to invest in a placing and subscription 
to raise a total of £25.3 million before expenses 
in two tranches, to fund the long-term business 
plans of the Company, including the launch 
of Aorfix™ post approval in the U.S. The first 
tranche of £11.1 million before expenses 
will be received by the Company following 
shareholder approval of the transaction and 
will be sufficient to fund the Company through 
to U.S. FDA approval of Aorfix™ by the end of 
Q3 2012 which triggers payment of the second 
tranche of £14.2 million before expenses. The 
total net proceeds after expenses from the 
two tranches of £24.0 million will be used to 
fund the following activities:

• Launch Aorfix™ post FDA approval into the  
U.S. market with Lombard Medical’s own  
sales force;

• Launch Aorfix™ post approval into the 
Japanese market with the Company’s 
experienced distribution partner;

• Further invest in sales and marketing 
infrastructure in key European markets;

• Expand production capacity; 

• Complete the Aorfix™ development projects 
initiated in 2010 (size range extension and 
next generation delivery system); and

John B Rush 
Non-executive Chairman
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• Resume development of the Company’s 
endovascular stent graft for the treatment 
of thoracic aortic aneurysms.

 
Board Changes
In December 2010 the Company announced 
a restructuring of the management team to 
reflect the mid-term strategic focus on achieving 
FDA approval and U.S. launch of the AorfixTM 
endovascular stent graft and further driving sales 
momentum in the five largest European markets.

At the invitation of Simon Neathercoat I became 
Chairman of the Company in January 2011, 
based principally in the U.S. and Simon Hubbert 
became Chief Executive Officer, based in 
Europe. Simon Hubbert, who joined Lombard 
Medical in June 2010 as VP Sales & Marketing, 
had already made a major impact on the 
Company’s sales and marketing activities in 
Europe, demonstrated by the excellent figures 
announced today, and had clearly shown the 
leadership qualities required for a CEO position.
 
On 1 January 2011 Dr Peter Phillips was also 
appointed to the Board. Dr Peter Phillips co-
developed Aorfix™ and is the Company’s 
leading expert on the technology and its 
clinical application. He is the Company’s 
Chief Technology Officer and his appointment 
will add significant additional technical and 
clinical expertise to the Board.

Conditional on completion of the first tranche of 
the Company’s proposed fundraising, Timothy 
Haines and Thomas Casdagli, from Abingworth 
and MVM respectively, will join the Board as Non-
executives Directors. Timothy and Thomas have 
significant experience of developing medical 
device companies and their expert knowledge 
will be highly valued at Board meetings.

In conjunction with the fundraising, we 
will be restructuring the Board to a more 
appropriate size for our needs moving 
forward. We will have a maximum of nine 
Board members, including Timothy Haines and 
Thomas Casdagli. As a result, the following 
Directors have today resigned with immediate 
effect: Donald Ricci; Timothy Cook; Richard 
Johnston; and Michael Stevens. The Board 
would like to thank all of these Non-executive 
Directors for their valued advice and support 
over the years. 

Employees
In 2010 the Company made several new 
appointments that have further strengthened 
the management team. The benefit of their 
experience has contributed to the progress the 
Company has made during the past year, and 
has placed the Company in a strong position 
for continued growth.

The Board would like to express their 
appreciation to all of the Company’s 
employees for their exceptional efforts during 
2010. Their continued support has helped us 
meet and overcome a series of challenges 
and ensured that the Company has had a 
successful year and faces the future with 
great confidence.

John Rush
Chairman
19 April 2011
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Year in Review

Business Review

The Company continued to make 
excellent progress against its four main 
strategic goals in the second half of 
2010 as sales in the four focus European 
markets increased by 117%, two more 
PMA modules were filed, the new product 
development projects were progressed 
and graft manufacture started at the 
Company’s Prestwick facility.

Revenue
The worldwide market for endovascular  
AAA repair (“EVAR”) is estimated to be worth  
$1.1 billion of which $185 million is from the  
five main European markets (France, Germany, 
Italy, Spain and the UK).

Lombard Medical currently sells Aorfix™ in four of 
these markets and has initiated a clinical study 
to support an application for reimbursement 
in France in 2012. During 2010, the Company 
focussed its sales and marketing resources on the 
main European markets which offer the greatest 
opportunity for sales growth. In the UK the sales 
force was increased by three and now totals 
four and in Germany the Company introduced 
a direct sales force of two that will increase to 
three in Q2 2011. In Spain and Italy Aorfix™ is 
sold through local distributors and during 2010 
the sales and marketing team was re-organised 
to increase support to and oversight of these 
distributors. These initiatives resulted in sales of 
Aorfix™ to these four main European markets 
increasing by 79% in H1 2010 and 117% in H2 2010, 
with growth of 99% for the full year.
 
The results in the UK were particularly pleasing 
with sales growing by 79% in the first half of the 
year and 174% in the second, reflecting
the impact of the increased sales team. Whilst UK 
sales growth continues in H1 2011 versus the same 

period last year, growth is below the Company’s 
expectations due to a number of temporary 
factors including a higher than usual incidence 
of case cancellations caused by bed shortages 
in some hospitals. The number of hospitals in the 
UK using Aorfix™ increased significantly during 
the year as did the market share held by Aorfix™ 
which grew from 4.7% in 2009 to 8.9% in 2010.

Commercial sales of Aorfix™ in the rest of the 
world grew by just 2% in 2010 despite strong sales 
to Brazil that grew by 48%, as weak economic 
conditions negatively impacted sales in Greece 
and certain Eastern European markets. Total 
commercial sales that include contract service 
revenues generated by the Company’s Prestwick 
facility increased by 50% to £2.85 million and 
represented an increasing share of total revenues 
which should help accelerate total revenue 
growth in future.

Aorfix™ Regulatory Approval in the U.S.
The U.S. is the largest EVAR market in the  
world estimated to be worth over $550 million  
in 2011. FDA approval to sell Aorfix™ in the  
U.S. will therefore be a key value driver for  
the Company.

The FDA has granted permission for the PMA 
for Aorfix™ to be filed in a series of six modules. 
The first three of these modules on biological 

Business

Simon Hubbert
Chief Executive Officer
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Lombard Medical intends to launch Aorfix™ in 
the U.S. post FDA approval with its own direct 
sales force. In late 2009 the Company appointed 
Clay Herzwurm as Vice President of Sales and 
Marketing, North America. Clay has led the 
successful scale up of sales and marketing 
teams in the U.S. for a number of medical device 
companies and is currently working on detailed 
launch plans for Aorfix™. Using market research 
on all 1,500 hospitals in the U.S. performing EVAR, 
the U.S. team will target those high volume 
centres most likely to treat the more difficult 
cases that are often characterised by tortuous 
anatomy in order to maximise market penetration 
with the resources available. 

Development
In 2010 the Company initiated two major 
development projects in respect of Aorfix™.  
The first of these is to expand the size range  
of Aorfix™ so that it can treat an estimated 
25% of patients who have aortas either too 
large or too small for the current size range. 
The introduction of a larger size product will 
require a small clinical study and is the initial 
area of focus. The Company plans to increase 
the graft diameter of its largest size from 31 mm 
to 38 mm but without increasing the profile 
of the current delivery system. Good progress 
was made in 2010 towards finalising the design 
of this product line extension and the clinical 
evaluation of the larger size grafts is expected 
to start towards the end of 2011.

testing, non-clinical laboratory studies and 
sterilisation and packaging have been 
reviewed and approved by the FDA. 

The Company filed the fourth module on 
engineering, bench testing and shelf-life and  
the fifth module on manufacturing, design and 
quality assurance in Q4 2010. In line with the 
FDA’s normal review process, the Company is in 
communication with the FDA regarding modules 4 
and 5, and remains confident that these modules 
will receive approval in time not to impact the 
critical path for overall PMA approval of Aorfix™.

The Company expects to file the final module 
containing the clinical data in the first half of 
2011, although filing is likely to be close to the 
end of the first half which is later than previously 
anticipated as a result of the FDA requesting 
that some supplemental analyses of the clinical 
data are included in the sixth module. 

The Company is applying for an indication for 
Aorfix™ to treat patients with angulations at the 
neck (top) of the aneurysm of up to 90° and, if 
approved as expected, Aorfix™ will be the only 
product in the U.S. licensed to treat patients 
with aneurysm neck angulations of greater 
than 60°. It is estimated that approximately 30% 
of all patients have some tortuosity either at 
the neck of the aneurysm or in the iliac arteries 
and it is to this segment of patients that Aorfix™ 
is targeted with its uniquely flexible design.

Revenues 2010  
Total £3,007,000

Revenues 2009 
Total £2,351,000

Commercial revenues increased by 50% whilst revenues from the 
U.S. trial declined by 65% as recruitment slowed as the trial neared 
completion resulting in a 28% increase in total revenues.

  £2,453,000 
Aorfix™ - Commercial

Aorfix™

– U.S. Trial

£155,000
  £399,000

Other

  £1,686,000 
Aorfix™ - Commercial

  £448,000

Aorfix™ 

– U.S. Trial

Other

£217,000
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Year in Review

Business Review continued

The second project is to develop a new, 
improved Aorfix™ delivery system that is smaller 
in profile, cheaper to manufacture and which 
has better ergonomics than the current system. 
This project has been thoroughly researched 
during 2010 with market research focus groups 
having had input into the design parameters and 
ergonomics of the device. A number of ways to 
reduce the profile of the delivery system have 
been identified and discussed with a contractor 
engaged to develop the device with significant 
experience in the design and manufacture of 
similar products. The Company expects to be 
able to introduce the new delivery system in 
Europe in the second half of 2012. 

Manufacturing Operations
The Company’s Prestwick facility, in Scotland, 
has recently started to undertake some of the 
stent graft production previously performed 
in Didcot, England, and over time will take 
over all stent graft production. This move will 
increase capacity at Didcot for the assembly 
and loading of the delivery device and ensure 
the most efficient use of the two facilities, thus 
reducing unit costs. 

In October 2010 the Company was awarded 
a £200,000 Regional Selective Assistance 
grant from Scottish Enterprise in respect of the 
expanded role of the Prestwick facility. This 

grant is to be received in four instalments  
as the workforce increases. The first of these  
is expected to be received in Q2 2011.

Other Achievements in 2010:
Japanese Distribution Agreement Signed
The Japanese market for EVAR products is 
estimated to be worth $100 million and is  
one of the fastest growing in the world.

In October 2010 Lombard Medical signed 
a distribution agreement with a company 
well placed in terms of sales infrastructure to 
maximise the potential of Aorfix™ in Japan. 
The Company’s commercial partner will 
apply for marketing approval of Aorfix™ using 
clinical and other data prepared for the U.S. 
approval process.

In order to assist Lombard Medical’s funding of 
its development projects, including its thoracic 
stent graft, the Japanese partner has agreed 
to provide the Company with a loan facility of 
up to $5 million. Half of the loan ($2.5 million) 
will be made available once FDA approval of 
Aorfix™ has been received. The remainder of 
the loan is subject to certain conditions that 
require the approval of both parties. The loan 
is repayable at the end of the term of the 
agreement, but may be waived if the parties 
agree to a second distribution term.

The sales growth seen in the UK during 2010 has demonstrated that 
Aorfix™, with its unique ability to treat the estimated 30% of AAA 
patients with tortuous anatomy, can take a significant share of the 
$1.1 billion worldwide EVAR market when properly marketed and 
supported by a dedicated sales force. 
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Further Clinical Evidence of the Superiority of 
Aorfix™ in Patients with Tortuous Anatomy 
In 2010, a study performed by the Royal United 
Hospital in Bath was published in the Journal 
of Cardiovascular Surgery. This study evaluated 
the use of Aorfix™ on the rate of iliac limb 
occlusion (a blockage of the iliac artery which 
can lead to subsequent corrective procedures). 
Seven patients in a control group of 93, none 
of whom were treated with Aorfix™, developed 
limb occlusions. However, in the study group of 
168 patients, in which Aorfix™ was used in 40 of 
the most severely angulated cases, no patients 
developed iliac limb occlusions. 

Large and Growing Body of Clinical Evidence  
to Support Aorfix™ use 
Lombard Medical has remained committed 
to the collection of data in its Retrospective 
Aorfix™ Data Retrieval Registry (RADAR). The 
RADAR registry now contains data from over 
1,250 Aorfix™ cases and enables the Company 
to present on the largest clinical experience 
ever compiled on difficult anatomy patients at 
conferences around the world.

Outlook, 2011 and Beyond
The sales growth seen in the UK during 2010  
has demonstrated that Aorfix™, with its 
unique ability to treat the estimated 30% of 
AAA patients with tortuous anatomy, can take 

a significant share of the $1.1 billion worldwide 
EVAR market when fully approved, properly 
marketed and supported by a dedicated 
sales force. 

The two-tranche fundraising to be 
announced with our 2010 results will give 
the Company the funds to replicate the 
highly succesful UK model in other European 
countries and most importantly in the 
U.S. post approval; to expand production 
capacity to meet anticipated demand; 
to complete the Aorfix™ development 
projects that will ensure the product remains 
competitive; and to resume development  
of the Company’s thoracic stent graft. 

The Directors believe that pursuing this 
strategy will lead to significant sales growth 
over the next few years and create significant 
shareholder value. 

Simon Hubbert
Chief Executive Officer
19 April 2011

On approval Aorfix™ will be the 
only product in the U.S. licensed 
to treat patients with angulations 
at the neck (top) of the aneurysm 
of greater than 60°.

99%
increase in Aorfix™ sales  
to main EU markets

FDA PMA modules  
submitted
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The Company today announced a 
placing and subscription that may 
raise up to £25.3 million (before 
expenses) in two tranches primarily 
to fund the launch of Aorfix™ post 
approval in the U.S.

Revenue 
Revenues increased 28% to £3.0 million  
(2009: £2.4 million). 

Commercial revenues increased by 50% to 
£2,852,000 (2009: £1,903,000) whilst revenues 
from Aorfix™ implants performed as part of 
the U.S. clinical trial declined 65% to £155,000 
(2009: £448,000) as recruitment slowed 
towards the end of the trial. 

Commercial sales of Aorfix™ increased 45% to 
£2,453,000 (2009: £1,686,000) driven by strong 
growth of 99% in the main European markets. 
Other commercial revenues increased 84% 
to £399,000 (2009: £217,000) primarily due to 
an 87% increase in contract service revenues 
generated by the Company’s Prestwick 
facility as its main customer replenished 
stocks and grew sales in the U.S.

Gross Profit 
The gross profit for the year increased 39%  
to £1,383,000 (2009: £995,000). The gross 
margin increased to 46% (2009: 42%) as  
the favourable effect of larger production 
volumes and efficiency improvements 
outweighed the negative impact of a 
reduction in high margin direct sales into  
the U.S. trial.

Operating Expenses 
The Group’s operating expenses increased by 
£1.4 million to £10.1 million (2009: £8.7 million). 

Research and development costs rose by 
11% to £5.2 million (2009: £4.7 million) as 
the Company commenced two Aorfix™ 
development projects and continued to  
invest in the U.S. trial and other activities required  
for FDA approval of Aorfix™ in the U.S. 

Selling, marketing and distribution expenses 
increased by £0.8 million to £2.4 million (2009: 
£1.6 million) primarily due to a net increase in 
sales and marketing headcount of four and 
increased promotional activity in target markets.

Administrative expenses increased by 5% to 
£2.5 million (2009: £2.4 million). Excluding share 
option expenses of £236,000 (2009: £22,000 
credit) and redundancy costs of £nil (2009: 
£350,000) administrative expenses increased 10% to 
£2.3 million (2009: £2.1 million) primarily as a result of 
inflationary increases and a larger allocation of U.S. 
office costs to administrative expenses. 

Interest
Interest receivable increased to £53,000 (2009: 
£30,000) as a result of higher average cash 
balances. No finance costs were incurred 
(2009: £152,000). 

Finance

Tim Hall 
Finance Director



15Lombard Medical Technologies PLC / Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2010

Ye
a

r i
n 

Re
vi

ew

Taxation 
The tax credit of £821,000 (2009: £995,000) 
represents the estimated R&D tax credit due 
in respect of 2010 of £700,000 (2009: £750,000) 
plus an adjustment of £121,000 (2009: £245,000) 
for an underestimate of the R&D tax credit in 
the prior year accounts. 

Loss after Taxation from  
Continuing Operation
The loss after taxation from continuing 
operations increased by £1.1 million to  
£7.9 million (2009: £6.8 million) primarily as  
a result of the increase in operating expenses 
partly offset by the increase in gross profit.

Discontinued Operations
In November 2009, the Company sold its 
polymer coatings Business for a total cash 
consideration of £1.0 million. The profit 
from discontinued operations of £14,000 
(2009: £600,000) represents an R&D tax 
credit received in 2010 in respect of the 
discontinued operation. The comparative 
figure for 2009 of £600,000 represents the profit  
on disposal of the Business of £964,000 less  
the net loss of the Business up to the date  
of its disposal of £364,000. 

Total Loss for the Year
The total loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders increased by 27% to £7.9 million 
(2009: £6.2 million) as a result of the increased 
loss from continuing operations and the 
decrease in profit from discontinued operations. 
The average number of shares in issue during 
2010 increased 166% to 2,061.4 million (2009: 
774.5 million) resulting in a decrease in the 
loss per ordinary share of 52% to 0.38 pence 
(2009: 0.80 pence) despite the increased loss 
for the year. The loss per ordinary share from 
continuing operations fell by 57% to 0.38 pence 
(2009: 0.88 pence).

Operating Cash Flow
Net cash outflow from operating activities 
increased 15% to £7.6 million (2009: £6.7 million) 
due to: a £1.3 million increase in net cash used 
in continuing operating activities arising from 
a higher loss before taxation; greater working 
capital requirements and lower tax receipts; 
and a £0.3 million reduction in net cash used  
in the discontinued operating activity.

Investing Activities 
The net cash used in investing activities of 
£46,000 (2009: £1,281,000 from investing activities) 
was the net of capital expenditure of £99,000 
(2009: £18,000) and interest received of £53,000 
(2009: £30,000). In 2009, £305,000 of deferred 

The gross margin increased to 46% (2009: 42%) as the favourable 
effect of larger production volumes and efficiency improvements 
outweighed the negative impact of a reduction in high margin 
direct sales into the U.S. trial.

Revenue Continuing  
Operations £m

Operating Loss Continuing  
Operations £m

Net Cash used in Continuing 
Operating Activities £m

1 Before goodwill amortisation
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Financial Review continued

consideration was received from the sale of the 
Company’s shares in EndoArt SA in February 2007 
and £964,000 was received from the sale of the 
polymer coatings Business. 

Financing Activities
Net cash flows from financing activities 
were £12.1 million (2009: £6.0 million) as the 
Company issued 1,333.4 million shares at a 
price of 1 pence per share raising £13.3 million 
before expenses of £1.2 million.

Treasury
The Company’s policy is to invest surplus 
funds in money-market and short-term bank 
deposits. The Company’s primary focus is 
to safeguard the principal by only placing 
deposits through institutions with good credit 
ratings or government deposit guarantees. 

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 
cash and cash equivalents of £5.8 million  
(2009: £1.3 million).

Headcount
Headcount at 31 December 2010 was 83 
(2009: 55). The vast majority of the headcount 
increase occurred in the production and quality 
departments as production volumes increased 
and graft manufacture was transferred to the 
Company’s Prestwick facility.

Post Balance Sheet Share Issue
The placing and subscription to be announced 
with these results may raise up to £25.3 million 

before expenses in two tranches if approved by 
shareholders at a General Meeting on 6 May 
2011. In the first tranche 1,590 million shares will  
be issued at a price of 0.7 pence each on  
31 May 2011 raising £11.1 million before expenses 
of £0.7 million. All investors in the first tranche 
will commit to invest in a second tranche of 
£14.2 million before expenses conditional upon 
the Company receiving FDA approval for 
Aorfix™ provided that if the Company initially 
receives a restricted indication to treat only 
those patients with tortuous anatomy there 
is no major reason to indicate that a wider 
indication could not be achieved by  
30 September 2013. Shares issued in the second 
tranche will be priced at the lower of 0.7 pence 
or the prevailing market price on the day the 
tranche is drawn down by the Company.

Going Concern
The Directors believe that the placing  
and subscription announced with these results 
will be approved by shareholders thereby 
providing the Company with sufficient funds 
for the foreseeable future and as such the 
financial statements have been prepared on  
a going concern basis. 

Tim Hall 
Finance Director
19 April 2011

Net cash flows from financing activities were £12.2 million (2009:  
£6.0 million) as the Company issued 1,333.4 million shares at a price of 
1 pence per share raising £13.4 million before expenses of £1.2 million.
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Directors

John Rush
Non-executive Chairman
John (52) joined the 
Board in October 2009 as 
CEO before becoming 
Chairman on 1 January 
2011. Before joining 
Lombard Medical John 
was President and CEO of 
North American Scientific, 
Inc. (NASDAQ: NASM) 
which he re-organized 
and led an investor 
group initiative to take 
private. John was also 
President and CEO 
of MicroTherapuetics, 
Inc (NASDAQ:MTIX), 
an interventional 
neuroradiology company 
with operations in U.S. and 
Europe. He orchestrated 
a successful sale of this 
company to EV3. Prior 
to MTIX, John spent 10 
years with Scimed Life 
Systems/Boston Scientific 
in various management 
roles, including General 
Manager of Boston 
Scientific’s Asia 
Pacific Business based 
in Singapore. John 
has extensive U.S. and 
international experience, 
with a core sales and 
marketing background. 

Simon Hubbert
Chief Executive Officer
Simon (43) was appointed 
Chief Executive Officer on 
1 January 2011. He joined 
Lombard Medical in June 
2010 as Vice President 
Sales & Marketing, 
International from LMA 
International where he 
was responsible for driving 
sales in major European 
markets. Simon has over 
20 years of experience 
in the medical 
technology sector and 
has held various senior 
commercial and Business 
roles at Medtronic and 
Johnson & Johnson.

Tim Hall
Finance Director
Tim (48) joined the Board 
in November 2005. He is 
a chartered accountant 
with extensive senior 
financial management 
experience gained in the 
pharmaceutical industry. 
Prior to joining LMT, Tim 
served as Chief Financial 
Officer at Celltech 
Pharmaceuticals for over 
four years during which 
time he helped refocus 
the Business by managing 
both a strategic product 
acquisition and a company 
acquisition. He also served 
as Director of Strategic 
Planning at Medeva 
PLC and has held senior 
financial planning positions 
at Glaxo-Wellcome plc and 
Wellcome plc, as well as 
Medeva PLC. Tim started 
his career at Touche Ross 
& Co before moving to 
Wellcome plc. Tim is the 
Group representative on 
the board of Vascular 
Concepts Holdings Limited.

Dr Peter Phillips
Chief Technology Officer
Peter (52) joined the Board 
on 1 January 2011 and 
is one of the founders 
of what is now Lombard 
Medical. He co-developed 
the Aorfix™ stent graft 
and led the development 
and commercialization of 
Aorfix™ from 1995. He is the 
Company’s leading expert 
on the technology and 
its clinical application. In 
2006, Peter moved to the 
U.S. to become President 
of Lombard Medical’s 
new U.S. subsidiary set up 
to support the Aorfix™ U.S. 
clinical trial. On returning 
to the UK in 2009, Peter 
took up the position of 
Chief Technology Officer. 
Peter has a PhD from Guy’s 
Hospital London, and was 
a director of Surgicraft, 
a UK orthopaedics 
company.

Board of Directors
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Simon Neathercoat FCA
Independent Non-
executive Senior Director
Simon (62) joined LMT  
as Non-executive Chairman 
in October 2007 and 
is Chairman of the 
Nomination Committee. 
Having qualified as a 
chartered accountant he 
spent most of his career 
in investment banking 
with Dresdner Kleinwort 
Wasserstein and Hoare 
Govett advising companies 
and boards of directors. He 
has an in-depth knowledge 
of City practices and 
corporate governance. 
Since 2001, he has held a 
number of non-executive 
appointments, acting in 
the capacity of Chairman, 
Senior Independent Director 
and Chairman of Audit and 
Remuneration Committees.

Craig Rennie
Non-executive Director
Craig (62) joined the 
Board in October 
2007 and is Chairman 
of the Remuneration 
Committee. He has 
worked in the international 
pharmaceutical industry 
for over 30 years, initially 
in increasingly senior sales 
and marketing positions 
with Beechams in the 
UK, and subsequently in 
international management 
posts with the Wellcome 
Foundation. In 1995 Craig 
was appointed Chief 
Executive and President 
of a newly established, 
U.S. venture backed 
biotechnology company 
following which in 1999 
he was appointed 
Chief Executive of Penn 
Pharmaceuticals where 
he led a primary MBO in 
2000 and a secondary 
MBO and refinancing in 
2004, when he assumed 
the role of Chairman and 
Chief Executive.

Professor Martin 
Rothman
Independent Non-
executive Director
Martin (62) was 
appointed to the Board on 
11 July 2003 having been 
appointed to the board 
of Lombard Medical Plc in 
2000. He is Vice-President, 
Medical Affairs, 
Coronary and Peripheral 
Division at Medtronic Inc. 
in California and is also 
Professor of Interventional 
Cardiology at Barts and 
the London NHS Trust. 
Prof. Rothman lectures 
regularly in cardiology 
and related subjects, 
and maintains an active 
research program. Martin 
is a Fellow of the American 
College of Cardiology, a 
Fellow of the Royal College 
of Physicians and a Fellow 
of the European College 
of Cardiology. Martin 
has founded medical 
device companies and 
serves on the boards 
of HD Clinical Limited, 
Site Specific Therapies 
Limited and PerQtech 
Limited. He is also a trustee 
of the charity the Heart 
Cells Foundation. 
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and 
the audited financial statements of the 
Company and Group for the year ended  
31 December 2010.

Principal Activities and Business Review
The Group’s principal activities are the design 
and development of endovascular stent grafts, 
their manufacture, and commercialisation 
either directly through the Group’s own sales 
force or through a network of local distributors 
supported by clinical specialists from 
Lombard Medical. 

The principal product, the Aorfix™ AAA stent 
graft has European CE mark approval for use 
in patients with high-angle-neck aneurysms 
of up to 90°. Similar approval is being sought 
in the U.S. with five of six PMA modules having 
been filed with the FDA and the final module 
expected to be submitted in the next few 
months. Further information on Aorfix™ and the 
AAA market in which the Group operates is 
given on pages 4 to 7.

A review of the results for the year and of future 
developments in the Business is given in the 
Chairman’s Statement, Business Review and in 
the Financial Review which form part of this 
Annual Report. In addition progress against 
the Group’s primary objectives is summarized 
on page 3 and the Group’s future strategy is 
outlined in the Chairman’s Statement on page 
8 and 9.

Results 
The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income is set out on page 33. The Group’s loss 
for the year attributable to equity shareholders 
was £7.9 million (2009: £6.2 million). Detailed 
consideration of the results for the year is 
contained within the Financial Review starting 
on page 14.

Research and Development 
During the year the Group incurred £5.2 million 
(2009: £4.7 million) in continuing development 
of its product portfolio. These costs were 
expensed in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Further details on the 
nature of this expense are contained in the 
Financial Review on page 14.

Employees 
The Group has consistently sought to recruit 
and retain the best employees. In order to 

ensure that employees are fully conversant 
with both manufacturing techniques and 
industry standards, in-house training courses 
are held at regular intervals. Other more 
specific training is achieved by sending 
employees on external training courses.

To retain employees a benefits package 
encompassing death in service, long-term 
disability and medical insurance, together 
with a contributory pension scheme, is offered 
to all employees.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The management of the Business and the 
execution of the Group’s strategy are subject 
to a number of risks and uncertainties.

The Board has implemented processes to 
identify risks, to assess them and to ensure 
that reasonable mitigation plans are in place. 
The principal risks and uncertainties identified 
that could have a material impact on the 
Company are set out below.

Manufacturing 
The Group may encounter problems in its 
manufacturing process which may restrict 
commercial quantities of product that can 
be made. To mitigate this risk the Group 
appoints experienced managers in key areas 
and engages consultants where necessary 
to advise on specific manufacturing and 
regulatory issues.

Development 
Product development projects and 
associated clinical trials may encounter 
delays or fail to achieve their endpoints. The 
Group seeks to mitigate this risk as far as 
possible through detailed planning and by 
closely monitoring development projects to 
identify potential issues as early as possible.

Regulatory
Regulatory bodies around the world have 
different requirements for the approval 
of medical devices. This may result in the 
restriction of indication, denial of approval or 
demands for additional data. The Group seeks 
to mitigate this risk by appointing managers 
and/or consultants experienced in the 
requirements of the specific regulatory bodies 
from which the Group is seeking approval.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Market Competitors 
Although the Group believes that its products 
have design features that make them 
competitive against the known competition, 
a new competitor product may be brought 
to the market that is more effective or 
economically viable than that developed 
by the Group. The Group monitors market 
developments, as far as possible, in order to 
take account of competitor advances in its 
design of new products.

Financial Resources
The Group may not receive FDA approval 
for Aorfix™ in the format required for it to be 
able to call down the second tranche of the 
fundraising to be announced on 20 April 2011 
before the funds from the first tranche have 
been exhausted. In such a scenario further 
funding would be required and if the Group 
fails to obtain such funding it may need to 
delay or scale back some of its development 
projects and/or commercialisation plans.

Political and Charitable Donations
The Group made no political or charitable 
donations during the year (2009: £nil).

Directors
Details of the Directors are set out on pages  
17 to 18.

Simon Hubbert and Peter Phillips were 
appointed as Directors on 1 January 2011 
and having been appointed prior to the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, will 
retire at that meeting and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election.

Tim Hall, Simon Neathercoat and Martin 
Rothman will retire by rotation at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Conditional on completion of the first tranche 
of the Company’s proposed fundraising, 
Timothy Haines and Thomas Casdagli from 
Abingworth LLP and MVM Life Science 
Partners LLP respectively, will join the Board as 
Non-executive Directors.

In order to keep the Board to a size 
appropriate for the needs of the Group, Don 
Ricci, Tim Cook, Dick Johnston, and Michael 
Stevens agreed to resign with immediate 
effect on 19 April 2011.

Details of the Directors’ interests in the share 
capital of the Company are shown in the 
Remuneration Report on page 28. No Director 
had an interest in a contract with the Group 
during the year under review.

Corporate and Social Responsibility
Environment 
The Group is committed to complying with 
environmental legislation and minimising the 
impact of its activities on the environment.  
The Group considers that its activities have  
low environmental impact.

Financial Risk Management 
Details of the Group’s policies are included  
in note 18 to the financial statements.

Health and Safety
The Group has established a Health and 
Safety Committee to review health and safety 
standards within the Group on an ongoing 
basis. Policies and procedures  
are documented.

Payment Policy
It is the Group’s policy to agree terms with 
its suppliers, terms of settlement which are 
appropriate for the markets in which they 
operate and to abide by such terms where 
suppliers have also met their obligations. 

The Company had 30 days’ (2009: 52 days’) 
purchases outstanding at 31 December 2010, 
based on amounts invoiced by suppliers 
during the year.

Interests in Voting Shares
At 31 March 2011 the Company had been 
notified of the following interests of 3% or 
more in the Company’s ordinary shares:

Name of Holder
Number of 

Shares

% of  
Issued 
Shares

Invesco 955,179,756 43.92

EvYsio Medical Devices ULC 200,000,000 9.20

Fidelity International Ltd 141,951,185 6.53

Craig Rennie – a Director 106,237,771 4.88

Straus Partners Funds 76,068,574 3.50

for the year ended 31 December 2010
Directors’ Report continued
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Share Price
The mid-market share price derived from the 
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, was 
1.63 pence on 31 December 2010.

The closing mid-market price ranged from 
0.80 pence to 1.73 pence during the period 
from 1 January to 31 December 2010. The 
average closing mid-market share price for 
this period was 0.98 pence.

Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
Annual Report and provision of information to 
the Auditors are set out on page 31.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held 
at Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP, Adelaide 
House, London Bridge, London EC4R 9HA at 
10:30am on 26 May 2011. Full details of the 
Business to be transacted at the AGM can 
be found on the separate Notice of Meeting 
accompanying this report.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors to 
the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

Going Concern
Statements regarding the adoption of the 
going concern basis for the preparation of 
the financial statements have been made in 
the Financial Review on page 16.

By order of the Board

Rhod Jones
Company Secretary
19 April 2011
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Governance

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Board is committed to running the 
Company in accordance with best 
practice in corporate governance. 
This commitment includes recognition 
by the Company of the importance 
of taking into account its corporate 
social responsibilities (“CSR”) in 
operating the business. In this 
context, Lombard Medical seeks to 
integrate CSR considerations relating 
particularly to social, ethical and 
health, safety and environment 
(“HS&E”) issues in its day-to-day 
operations. The Board acknowledges 
its duty to ensure that the Company 
conducts its activities responsibly 
and with proper regard for all its 
stakeholders including employees, 
shareholders, customers, patients, 
suppliers, business partners and the 
local and medical communities.

The Company communicates 
and consults with its stakeholders 
in a number of different ways 
including the use of electronic 
communications, face-to-face 
meetings, teleconferences, surveys, 
newsletters and attendance of 
relevant congresses.

In exercising its corporate social 
responsibility, Lombard Meidcal seeks 
to ensure that:

• as a minimum, the Group meets 
existing standards and legislation;

• HS&E issues are treated as critical 
areas of concern for the business;

• business practices are managed 
ethically;

• employees are recognised as key 
to the success of the business and 
individual talent is valued and 
developed;

• business practices are managed 
transparently and designed to 
deliver value to the stakeholders;

• a positive contribution is made 
to the local and medical 
communities;

• the Board takes account of the 
significance of social, ethical and 
HS&E matters.

 
CSR issues can be grouped into 
the following key areas that have 
potential for significant effect on 
Lombard Medical’s value:

• Social – recognising the value of 
employees and managing the 
business ethically;

• Ethical – investing in research and 
development and other activities 
with the aim of establishing 
a sustainable business that 
will provide a fair return for 
shareholders;

• HS&E – ensuring the health and 
safety of people and limiting  
the environmental impact of  
the business.

Social
Lombard Medical is committed 
to conducting all aspects of its 
business in a socially responsible 
manner. In particular the welfare 
and development of the Group’s 
employees remain a priority even 
though the Company has in the 
past had need to make significant 
cuts to the number of people 
employed. In order to attract, 
recruit, develop and retain key 
employees, Lombard Medical 
maintains a number of policies and 
procedures for the benefit of its 
employees. These are set out in an 
employee handbook given to all 
new employees and include such 
items as an equal opportunities 
policy; training policy; and anti-
harassment policy. Employee 
development is encouraged 
through appropriate training.

Regular and open communication 
between management and 
employees is considered to be 
essential to maintain a motivated 
workforce. Lombard Medical 
regularly holds briefings at which 
updates are provided on the 
Company’s progress and employees 
have the opportunity to ask 
questions and discuss issues with 
senior management. Company 
news is also communicated via 
notice boards and significant items 
are included on the Company’s 
website which is freely available 
with most employees having access 
to the internet.

Employee feedback is encouraged 
via line management and review 
meetings are held regularly within 
each department. 

Ethical
Lombard Medical operates within 
a strict regulatory environment 
and conducts its research and 
development, and manufacturing 
activities in accordance with 
internationally recognised regulatory 
standards. Similarly its sales and 
marketing activities are conducted 
in line with industry guidelines. 

The Company manages its resources 
prudently to ensure that appropriate 
investment is made in its R&D 
programmes and its manufacturing 
and commercialisation activities. 
The Group’s intellectual property is 
protected through an appropriate 
patenting programme and up-
to-date security systems are 
used to protect the Company’s IT 
systems. Close attention is paid to 
maintaining relationships with key 
stakeholders including business 

partners, suppliers and shareholders.

Health, Safety and 
Environment

Lombard Medical regards the 
promotion of health and safety as 
an essential part of management 
and employer responsibilities. The 
basis of its approach in these areas 
is one of continuous improvement 
of appropriate health and safety 
policies and procedures to ensure the 
safeguard of staff, contractors and 
visitors. The Company is committed 
to complying with applicable health 
and safety laws and regulations. 

Lombard Medical believes in 
protecting the environment. 
When developing products and 
manufacturing processes regard 
is given to the protection of the 
environment particularly with  
regard to waste management  
and utility consumption.
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Introduction
The Board is committed to 
maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance. 

As a company listed on the 
Alternative Investment Market of 
the London Stock Exchange (AIM), 
Lombard Medical is not required 
to comply with the requirements of 
Schedule 1 of the 2008 Combined 
Code. However, the Board has sought 
to apply the principles of the Code 
as far as practicable taking into 
account the Company’s size, stage of 
development and resources. 

Since the publication of the new 
UK Corporate Governance Code in 
June 2010, the Board has considered 
the provisions of the new Code 
in respect of good corporate 
governance and Board effectiveness 
and intends to continue to comply 
with the principles of the new Code 
in so far as it is appropriate for a 
company of Lombard Medical’s  
size and resources to do so.

Statement of Compliance
The Board endorses and supports the 
essential elements of the Code and, 
apart from a few limited exceptions, 
believes the Company has fully 
complied with the Code during the 
year reported on.

Board of Directors
The Code requires every company 
to be headed by an effective board, 
which is collectively responsible 
for the long-term success of the 
Company and are accountable to its 
shareholders for the performance of 
the business. As part of its leadership 
and control of the Group there 
are matters which are reserved 
for decision by the Board. These 
include: the overall conduct of the 
Company; matters relating to strategy 
and management; Group structure 
and capital; financial reporting and 
controls; internal controls; major 
contracts; external communications; 
Board membership and other 
senior appointments; remuneration; 
delegation of authority; corporate 
governance matters; policies; and 
various other items such as political 

donations, litigation and changes to 
Group pension schemes.

The Code requires a balance of 
Executive and independent Non-
executive Directors (NEDs) such 
that no individual or small group of 
individuals can dominate the Board’s 
decision-taking. A smaller company, 
such as Lombard Medical, must have 
at least two independent NEDs. 

The Board currently comprises four 
NEDs and three Executive Directors, as 
set out on pages 17 to 18 of this report.

The role of the NEDs is to ensure that 
independent judgement is brought 
to Board deliberations and decisions. 
The NEDs possess a wide range of 
skills and experience relevant to 
the development of the Company, 
which complement those of the 
Executive Directors.

John Rush, the Chairman, operates 
in a non-executive capacity. Until 
1 January 2011 he was CEO of 
Lombard Medical and therefore 
is not considered independent 
under the rules of the Code. 
However, the Board considers 
that the benefits that he brings 
to the role of Chairman through 
his broad experience of running 
medical device companies 
outweigh his perceived lack 
of independence. Furthermore 
the Board is satisfied that the 
presence of Simon Neathercoat 
(Senior Independent Director), and 
Professor Martin Rothman, both 
of whom are considered by the 
Board to be independent NEDs, 
provides sufficient independent 
influence to ensure that the Board is 
balanced and that good corporate 
governance practice is maintained.

Craig Rennie is not considered by the 
Board to be independent Director 
due to his significant shareholding in 
the Company. 

Whilst the Code discourages the 
granting of share options to NEDs, 
it nevertheless acknowledges that 
such grants may be appropriate in a 
particular company’s circumstances. 

The Board believes that the issue of 
share options to NEDs is important to 
attract and retain the right calibre of 
NED and after careful consideration; 
the Board has determined that 
the holding of share options by 
its NEDs has no impact on their 
independence in character and 
judgement. The share options held 
by the NEDs are all subject to share 
price growth criteria. Details of all 
Directors’ share options and warrants 
are shown in the Remuneration 
Report on pages 26 to 30.

Board Meeting
There is a minimum of six meetings 
held throughout the calendar year. All 
members of the Board are supplied in 
advance with appropriate information 
covering matters which are to be 
considered including the results 
statements of the Company, and the 
approval of the Annual Report and 
Accounts. Board meetings also discuss 
matters such as Company strategic 
issues and the Financial Plan.

Board Committees
The Board has established audit, 
nomination and remuneration 
committees, whose make-up complies 
with the requirements of the Code. 
The terms of reference of each 
Committee are available on request 
from the Company Secretary. In 
accordance with the Smith Guidance 
on Board Committees, no one other 
than the Committee Chairman 
and committee members receive 
automatic invitations to the meetings. 

Remuneration Committee
The Code requires that, in the case of 
a smaller company, a Remuneration 
Committee consists of at least two 
independent NEDs. During 2010 the 
Remuneration Committee consisted 
of Craig Rennie (Chair) and Professor 
Donald Ricci (appointed December 
2010, resigned 19 April 2011) both 
of whom were not considered to 
be independent and Tim Cook 
(resigned 19 April 2011) and Professor 
Martin Rothman both of whom were 
independent NEDs. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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The Remuneration Committee 
determines the terms and conditions 
of service of Directors and the total 
individual remuneration of each 
Executive Director including, where 
appropriate, bonuses, incentive 
payments and share option grants. 
It also reviews and approves the 
performance criteria for performance 
related pay schemes and share option 
plans operated by the Company. The 
Remuneration Committee met five 
times during 2010. 

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has 
responsibility for considering the size, 
structure and composition of the 
Board, retirements and appointments 
of additional and replacement 
Directors, and making appropriate 
recommendations to the Board. The 
Code recommends that a majority 
of members of the Nomination 
Committee are independent NEDs. 
Simon Neathercoat chairs the 
Nomination Committee and its other 
members during 2010 were Tim Cook 
(resigned 19 April 2011), Richard 
Johnston (resigned 19 April 2011), Craig 
Rennie, Professor Martin Rothman and 
Michael Stevens (resigned 19 April 
2011). Throughout 2010 the majority 
of members of the Nomination 
Committee were independent NEDs  
in accordance with the Code.

The Nomination Committee met three 
times during 2010.

Audit Committee
The Code requires that, in the case 
of a smaller company, an Audit 
Committee consists of at least 
two independent NEDs. The Audit 
Committee consisted of Michael 
Stevens (Chair, resigned 19 April 2011), 
Tim Cook (resigned 19 April 2011), 
Craig Rennie and Richard Johnston 
(resigned 19 April 2011) during 2010. 
The Audit Committee always included 
at least two independent NEDs 
throughout 2010 in accordance  
with the Code. 

Michael Stevens is a Fellow of the 
Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants and was considered by 

the Board to have the requisite relevant 
financial experience recommended by 
the Code. The Audit Committee assists 
the Board in fulfilling their oversight 
responsibility in respect of the integrity 
of the Company’s financial statements, 
risk management and internal control 
arrangements, compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements, and 
the performance, qualifications and 
independence of the external auditors. 

The Audit Committee has met three 
times during 2010 primarily to: review 
the 2009 Annual Report and 2010 
Interim Report prior to their submission 
for approval to the full Board; consider 
comments on the Group’s accounting 
policies and internal controls from 
the Group’s Auditors and to approve 
the 2010 audit plan and consider the 
independence of the Auditors and 
the terms of their engagement.

The Auditors during the Audit 
Committee meetings have the 
opportunity to meet privately with 
committee members in the absence 
of executive management.

Board Performance Evaluation
Directors are subject to election by 
shareholders at the first opportunity 
after their appointment. In addition, 
one third of the Directors are subject 
to retirement by rotation at each 
Annual General Meeting. The 
Nomination Committee undertook a 
formal evaluation of the Board and its 
Committees during the year and the 
Remuneration Committee evaluated 
the performance of the Chairman 
and individual Executive Directors. 

Accountability
The Board is responsible for the 
production of an Annual Report 
that presents a balanced and 
understandable assessment of 
the Group’s financial position and 
prospects. The Audit Committee  
plays a key role in administering  
this responsibility.

Internal Controls
The Board has overall responsibility 
for ensuring that the Group maintains 
a system of internal control to 

provide them with reasonable 
assurance that the assets of the 
Group are safeguarded and that 
the shareholders’ investments are 
protected. The system includes 
internal controls covering financial, 
operational and regulatory 
compliance areas, and risk 
management. Such a system can 
only provide reasonable assurance 
and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss, as it 
is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives. The concept of 
reasonable assurance recognises the 
cost of a control procedure should not 
exceed the expected benefits.

Key systems of internal control for the 
Company, including its quality systems, 
good manufacturing practice and 
regulatory compliance are regularly 
reviewed by external consultants 
and regulatory authorities and their 
findings reported to the Board by the 
Executive Directors. 

The external auditors provide a 
supplementary, independent and 
autonomous perspective on those 
areas of the internal control system 
which they assess in the course of 
their work. Their findings are reported 
to the Board via the Audit Committee. 

Major commercial, operational, 
regulatory and development risks 
are considered each year during the 
business planning process along with 
actions designed to mitigate these 
risks where possible. 

The Board considers the internal 
controls employed by the Group 
to be appropriate for the size of 
the organisation. The establishment 
of an internal audit function is not 
considered to be necessary given  
the size of the Group.

Corporate Governance Statement Continued
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Relations with Investors and 
the Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”)
The Board recognises the importance 
of good communications with 
shareholders. The Chairman’s 
Statement and Chief Executive’s 
Business Review on pages 8 to 13 
include a detailed review of the 
business and future developments. 
The Company is in regular dialogue 
with institutional shareholders and 
usually meets with such shareholders 
after the announcement of 
preliminary results at the year end 
and half year. The Group’s website is 
regularly updated with information on 
the Group’s activities.

The Senior Independent Non-
executive Director, Simon Neathercoat 
may be contacted by shareholders 
via the Company website.

The AGM on 26 May 2011 gives 
all shareholders the opportunity 
to communicate directly with the 
Board. Details of resolutions to be 
proposed at the AGM can be found 
in the Notice of Meeting, which 
accompanies this Report.

Review of Corporate 
Governance Disclosures
The Board have voluntarily complied 
with the principal Corporate 
Governance disclosures and these 
have not been formally reviewed 
by the Company’s auditors. Their 
report contains no specific reporting 
responsibilities in respect of 
corporate governance.

Tim Hall
Finance Director 
19 April 2011
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Remuneration Report

Introduction
Companies that have securities 
traded on the London Stock 
Exchange’s AIM market are not 
required to comply with the 
disclosure requirements of Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 
2002 or to comply with the UKLA 
Listing Rules and disclosure provisions 
under Schedule 8 of the Companies 
Act 2006. However, the Remuneration 
Committee is committed to 
maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance and has taken 
steps to comply with best practice in 
so far as it can be applied practically 
given the size of the Company and 
the nature of its operations.

The following disclosures are provided 
on an unaudited voluntary basis as a 
matter of best practice.

Remuneration Committee
During 2010 the Remuneration 
Committee consisted of Non-
executive Directors Craig Rennie 
(Chair) and Professor Donald Ricci 
(resigned 19 April 2011), and Tim Cook 
(resigned 19 April 2011) and Professor 
Martin Rothman both of whom are 
independent NEDs. All were members 
throughout 2010 except for Professor 
Donald Ricci who was appointed 
to the Remuneration Committee in 
December 2010.

There were five Remuneration 
Committee meetings during the year 
and a further meeting in January 
2011. In all cases all Committee 
members were present either in 
person or by phone.

The remuneration of each Executive 
Director, including bonuses and share 
option grants, is determined by the 
Committee, as are the terms of their 
service agreements. From time to 
time, if it is considered appropriate, 
the Committee will commission reports 
from expert remuneration consultants. 
The Committee does not determine 
the fees paid to NEDs. These are 
determined by the Board on the 
recommendation of the Chairman 
and Chief Executive. 

Policy on Remuneration of 
Executive Directors
It is the Company’s policy to 
provide remuneration packages 
that are competitive with those 

of other companies of a similar 
size, complexity and stage of 
development. Furthermore, it is the 
objective of the Board, advised by the 
Remuneration Committee, to provide 
remunerationpackages that will 
attract, retain and motivate Executive 
Directors of the highest calibre.

The Group recognises the benefits of 
performance-related remuneration and 
both the exercise of share options and 
the award of annual bonuses are linked 
to various performance measures. 

Components of the 
Remuneration Package
The principal components of 
Executive Directors’ remuneration 
packages are basic salary, a 
performance-related bonus, medium- 
and long-term incentives in the form 
of share options, pension contributions 
and other benefits. The policy in 
relation to each of these components, 
and key terms of the various incentive 
and benefit programmes are 
explained further below.

Basic Salary
Base salaries are reviewed 
annually, taking into account 
recommendations on individual 
performance, salary levels in 
comparable companies and the 
average pay increase implemented 
throughout the Company. 

Performance-related Bonus
Executive Directors are eligible for a 
performance related bonus based 
on achievement of various Company 
and individual objectives during 
the year. In 2010 these awards were 
limited to a maximum of 75% of 
basic salary in respect of John Rush 
(CEO during 2010) and 50% of basic 
salary in respect of Tim Hall (Finance 
Director). In addition the Remuneration 
Committee maintains the right to make 
one-off bonus awards for exceptional 
performance. In 2010 the Committee 
made no such awards. 

Share Options
Executive Directors are awarded 
share options under the rules of the 
Company’s “2005 Plan” at the discretion 
of the Remuneration Committee.

The exercise of options is normally 
conditional on the achievement of 
either a specified performance target 

determined by the Remuneration 
Committee when the options are 
granted or achievement of a specified 
share price within a specified period. 
The exercise price per Ordinary Share 
will not be less than the middle market 
quotation averaged over the three 
dealing days immediately preceding 
the date of grant. 

Options may normally only be granted 
within 42 days of the announcement 
by the Company of its interim or final 
results each year. Options may be 
granted outside these periods if the 
Remuneration Committee considers 
that there are sufficiently exceptional 
circumstances to justify the grant of 
options at that time. No payment is 
required for the grant of an option.

An individual Director’s maximum level 
of participation under the Plan will be 
set by the Board under advice from 
the Remuneration Committee.

The benefits under the 2005 Plan are 
not pensionable.

An option will lapse if the participant 
ceases to be employed within 
the Group otherwise than due to 
death and to the extent otherwise 
determined by the Board in its absolute 
discretion. If a participant dies, the 
option may be exercised within twelve 
months after his/her death.

In May 2010 shareholders approved 
at a General Meeting some minor 
changes to the 2005 Plan that enable 
Incentive Stock Options as defined 
in Section 422 of the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 to be issued to 
U.S. employees under the 2005 Plan. 

In order to secure the recruitment 
and retention of high-calibre NEDs 
with the appropriate experience, 
it is the Company’s policy to grant 
NEDs share options. The share options 
held by the NEDs are all subject to 
performance criteria. 

Full details of Directors’ interests in 
ordinary shares in the Company, 
together with options granted in the 
financial year ended 31 December 
2010, are set out below in this report.

Pension Arrangements
All U.K. employees, including Executive 
Directors are invited to participate in a 
Group Personal Pension Plan (“GPPP”), 
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which is money-purchase in nature. Alternatively, the Company may make contributions to personal pension schemes 
held by employees or Executive Directors equal to those that would have been made to the GPPP. The only pensionable 
element of remuneration is basic salary. The Company contributes 10% of basic salary exclusive of car allowance to the 
pension arrangements of U.K. Executive Directors and contributes 4% of basic salary and bonus to the 401k pension plans 
of any U.S. Executive Directors.

Other Benefits
Benefits in kind for Executive Directors include life assurance, permanent health insurance and private medical insurance 
(including dental insurance for any U.S. Executive Directors). U.K. Executive Directors also receive a car allowance.

Directors’ Service Contracts
The Company’s policy is for Executive Directors to have contracts of employment with an indefinite term providing for a 
maximum of one year’s notice. 

Non-executive Directors are engaged on letters of appointment that set out their duties and responsibilities. Each NED is 
appointed for an initial period of 12 months that is then terminable by either party on written notice to expire on or after 
the initial period of 12 months.

All Directors are subject to re-election at an AGM at intervals of no more than three years.

Details of current Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are as follows:

Name Date of Appointment Notice Period

Executive

Simon Hubbert 1 January 2011 6 months

Tim Hall 7 November 2005 12 months

Dr Peter Phillips 1 January 2011 12 months

Non-executive

John Rush 12 October 2009 30 days

Simon Neathercoat 1 October 2007 6 months

Craig Rennie 1 October 2007 3 months

Prof. Martin Rothman 11 July 2003 3 months

Non-executive Directors’ Fees
NEDs’ fees are paid in line with market practice and are reviewed annually. In 2010 the Non-executive Chairman was 
paid an annual fee of £65,000 and other UK-based NEDs an annual fee of £35,000 except for the Chairmen of the 
Remuneration and Audit Committees who each received an annual fee of £37,500. 

Professor Donald Ricci and Richard Johnston who both reside in North America did not receive fees in 2010 but were able 
to claim travel expenses of up to £35,000 to attend Board meetings.
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Remuneration Report Continued

Directors’ Interests
The Directors who held office at 31 December 2010 or were appointed during the period from then until 19 April 2011 held 
interests in the share capital of the Company at 19 April 2011, 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 as follows:

19 April 2011 
Ordinary Shares of 

1 Pence Each

31 December 20101 
Ordinary Shares of 

1 Pence Each

31 December 2009 
Ordinary Shares of 

1 Pence Each

John Rush 1,000,000 1,000,000 –

Simon Hubbert2 – – –

Tim Hall3 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,115,000

Dr Peter Phillips2 299,958 299,958 –

Simon Neathercoat 2,430,891 2,430,891 1,430,891

Tim Cook4 2,515,120 2,515,120 1,515,120

Richard Johnston4,5 – – –

Craig Rennie 106,237,771 106,237,771 101,237,771

Prof. Donald Ricci4,6 – – –

Prof. Martin Rothman 4,611,115 4,611,115 3,611,115

Michael Stevens4 2,710,035 2,710,035 1,710,035

1) Or date of appointment if later.

2) Appointed 1 January 2011.

3)  At 19 April 2011 and 31 December 2010 Mr Hall held 6,000 “B” warrants (2009: 6,000) to subscribe for new ordinary shares at 37 pence exercisable in whole or in 

part at any time up to 15 June 2012. At 31 December 2009 Mr Hall also held 6,000 “A” warrants to subscribe for new ordinary shares at 31 pence exercisable in 

whole or in part at any time up to 15 June 2010.

4) Resigned 19 April 2011.

5)  Mr Johnston has a share in the Camden Partners’ funds which themselves hold 32,720,011 1 pence ordinary shares at 19 April 2011, 31 December 2010 and 

at 31 December 2009 in the Company. At 19 April 2011 and 31 December 2010 Camden Partners held 75,376 “B” warrants (2009: 75,376) to subscribe for new 

ordinary shares at 37 pence exercisable in whole or in part at any time up to 15 June 2012. At 31 December 2009 Camden Partners also held 75,376 “A” 

warrants to subscribe for new ordinary shares at 31 pence exercisable in whole or in part at any time up to 15 June 2010. 

6)  Professor Ricci was appointed a Director on 18 March 2010, he is a director and has a shareholding in evYsio Medical Devices ULC which held 200,000,000  

1 pence ordinary shares at 19 April 2011, and 200,000,000 at 31 December 2010 and at his date of appointment. 
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Directors’ Remuneration and Pension Entitlements 
The remuneration of individual Directors who served during the year was as follows:

Basic 
Salary 

and Fees 
£’000

Bonus 
£’000

Benefits in 
Kind 

£’000
Pensions 

£’000

Total 
Emoluments 

2010 
£’000

Total 
Emoluments 

2009 
£’000

Executive Directors:

John Rush 199 103 5 11 318 41

Brian Howlett1 42 – 1 4 47 193

Tim Hall 148 41 1 14 204 183

Non-executive Directors:

Simon Neathercoat 65 – – – 65 50

Tim Cook2 35 – – – 35 20

Richard Johnston2,3 – – – – – 20

Craig Rennie 38 – – – 38 23

Prof. Donald Ricci2,4 – – – – – –

Prof. Martin Rothman 35 – – – 35 20

Michael Stevens2 38 – – – 38 23

600 144 7 29 780 573

1) Resigned 31 March 2010.

2) Resigned 19 April 2011.

3) Waived rights to past and future remuneration but continues to claim travel expenses of up to £35,000 per annum.

4) Appointed 18 March 2010. 
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Directors’ Interests in Share Options 
Directors holding office at 31 December 2010 had the following options outstanding over ordinary shares:

Plan

Options 
Held at 

1 January 
2010

Options 
Granted/

(Cancelled) 
During Year

Options 
Held at 31 

December 
2010

Exercise 
Price 

(Pence)

Date from 
which First 

Exercisable
Expiry 
Date Note

J B Rush 2005 Plan 33,652,191 – 33,652,191 1.275 31 Dec ‘11 11 Oct ‘19 1

2005 Plan – 53,335,609 53,335,609 1.042 31 Dec ‘11 4 Feb ‘20 1

33,652,191 53,335,609 86,987,800

T R Hall 2005 Plan 10,000,000 – 10,000,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 9,572,255 9,572,255 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

10,000,000 9,572,255 19,572,255

S J Neathercoat 2005 Plan 5,600,000 – 5,600,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 7,773,000 7,773,000 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

5,600,000 7,773,000 13,373,000

T Cook3 2005 Plan 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 2,591,000 2,591,000 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

1,000,000 2,591,000 3,591,000

R M Johnston3 2005 Plan 1,800,000 – 1,800,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 2,591,000 2,591,000 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

1,800,000 2,591,000 4,391,000

C R Rennie 2005 Plan 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 2,591,000 2,591,000 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

1,000,000 2,591,000 3,591,000

M T Rothman 2005 Plan 6,000,000 – 6,000,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 2,591,000 2,591,000 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

6,000,000 2,591,000 8,591,000

M A Stevens3 2005 Plan 2,000,000 – 2,000,000 1.125 28 Jan ‘12 27 Jan ‘19 2

2005 Plan – 2,591,000 2,591,000 1.042 5 Feb ‘13 4 Feb ‘20 2

2,000,000 2,591,000 4,591,000

Notes

1. Exercise subject to the achievement of certain performance targets. 50% of options in issue cancelled in January 2011

2. Exercise subject to the achievement of certain levels of share price growth

3. Resigned 19 April 2011.

Remuneration Report Continued
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have prepared the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the 
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company 
will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the 
Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking responsible steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud or other irregularities.

So far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant information of which the Company’s Auditors are unaware, 
and each Director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are aware of that information.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Tim Hall
Finance Director
19 April 2011 
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We have audited the group and parent company financial 
statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of Lombard 
Medical Technologies PLC for the year ended 31 December 
2010 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company 
Balance Sheet, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow 
Statement, the Consolidated and Company Statement 
of changes in Equity and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and, as regards the parent company financial 
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of directors and 
auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 31, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared 
for and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s 
and parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the directors; and the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2010 and of the group’s loss and 
group’s and parent company’s cash flows for the year 
then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by  
the European Union; 

• the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union and as applied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by 

the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from branches not visited by 
us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Miles Saunders
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Reading 
19 April 2011

Notes:

(a)  The maintenance and integrity of the Lombard Medical 
Technologies PLC website is the responsibility of the directors; 
the work carried out by the auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors 
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially 
presented on the website.

(b)  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions.

 

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Lombard Medical Technologies PLC
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Note 2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 3 3,007 2,351

Cost of sales (1,624) (1,356)

Gross profit 1,383 995

Selling, marketing and distribution expenses (2,429) (1,582)

Research and development expenses (5,201) (4,706)

Administrative expenses (2,495) (2,379)

Total operating expenses (10,125) (8,667)

Operating loss 4 (8,742) (7,672)

Finance income – interest receivable 53 30

Finance costs 7 – (152)

Loss before taxation (8,689) (7,794)

Taxation 8 821 995

Loss after taxation from continuing operations (7,868) (6,799)

Discontinued operation

Profit from discontinued operation 9 14 600

Comprehensive loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders (7,854) (6,199)

Basic and diluted loss per share (pence)

 From continuing operations only 10 (0.38) (0.88)

 From continuing operations and discontinued operation 10 (0.38) (0.80)

for the year ended 31 December 2010
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Company registration number: 04636949

Note
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Assets

Intangible assets 11 2,317 2,361

Property, plant and equipment 12 183 156

Financial assets - available for sale 14 850 850

Non-current assets 3,350 3,367

Inventories 15 1,694 1,447

Trade and other receivables 16 1,066 714

Taxation recoverable 700 750

Cash and cash equivalents 5,814 1,349

Current assets 9,274 4,260

Total assets 12,624 7,627

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 (2,604) (2,139)

Current liabilities (2,604) (2,139)

Total liabilities (2,604) (2,139)

Net assets 10,020 5,488

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company

Called up share capital 19 26,331 12,997

Share premium account 19 37,101 38,285

Other reserves 19 11,118 11,118

Accumulated loss (64,530) (56,912)

Total equity 10,020 5,488

The financial statements on pages 33 to 60 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 April 2011 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Tim Hall
Finance Director

19 April 2011

 

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2010
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Note
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Net cash outflow from operating activities 21 (7,639) (6,657)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 53 30

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (99) (18)

Proceeds from the sale of investments – 305

Net proceeds from the sale of assets of discontinued activity – 964

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (46) 1,281

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 13,334 5,882

Share issue expenses (1,184) (432)

Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes – 500

Interest paid – –

Net cash flows from financing activities 12,150 5,950

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,465 574

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,349 775

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,814 1,349

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Share 
Capital 

£’000

Share 
Premium 
Account 

£’000

Other 
Reserves 

£’000

Accumulated 
loss 

£’000

Total 
Equity 
£’000

At 1 January 2009 5,946 37,728 11,342 (50,691) 4,325

Loss after taxation attributable to equity 
shareholders

– – – (6,199) (6,199)

Share-based compensation (note 20) – – – (22) (22)

Conversion of convertible loan notes 2009 to equity 
(note 19)

669 1,083 (224) – 1,528

Issue of ordinary shares (note 19) 6,382 – – – 6,382

Share issue expenses – (526) – – (526)

At 31 December 2009 12,997 38,285 11,118 (56,912) 5,488

Loss after taxation attributable to equity 
shareholders

– – – (7,854) (7,854)

Share-based compensation (note 20) – – – 236 236

Issue of ordinary shares (note 19) 13,334 – – – 13,334

Share issue expenses – (1,184) – – (1,184)

At 31 December 2010 26,331 37,101 11,118 (64,530) 10,020

for the year ended 31 December 2010
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Company registration number: 04636949

Note
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Assets

Investments in subsidiary undertakings 13 27,103 18,307

Non-current assets 27,103 18,307

Trade and other receivables 16 122 279

Cash and cash equivalents 5,280 1,054

Current assets 5,402 1,333

Total assets 32,505 19,640

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 (723) (942)

Current liabilities (723) (942)

Total liabilities (723) (942)

Net assets 31,782 18,698

Equity

Called up share capital 19 26,331 12,997

Share premium account 19 37,101 38,285

Other reserves 19 11,118 11,118

Retained loss (42,768) (43,702)

Total equity 31,782 18,698

The financial statements on pages 33 to 60 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 April 2011 and were signed on 
its behalf by:

Tim Hall
Finance Director

19 April 2011

as at 31 December 2010
Company Balance Sheet
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Note
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 21 819 (1,461)

Cash flows from investing activities

Advances to subsidiary undertakings (8,796) (4,034)

Interest received 53 29

Net cash flows used in investing activities (8,743) (4,005)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 13,334 5,882

Share issue expenses (1,184) (432)

Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes – 500

Interest paid – –

Net cash flows from financing activities 12,150 5,950

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,226 484

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1,054 570

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5,280 1,054

for the year ended 31 December 2010
Company Cash Flow Statement
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Share 
Capital 

£’000

Share 
Premium 

£’000

Other 
Reserves 

£’000

Accumulated
 Loss 

£’000

Total 
Equity 
£’000

At 1 January 2009 5,946 37,728 11,342 (42,531) 12,485

Loss after taxation attributable to  
equity shareholders – – – (1,149) (1,149)

Share-based compensation (note 20) – – – (22) (22)

Conversion of convertible loan notes 2009 
 to equity (note 19) 669 1,083 (224) – 1,528

Issue of ordinary shares 6,382 – – – 6,382

Share issue expenses – (526) – – (526)

At 31 December 2009 12,997 38,285 11,118 (43,702) 18,698

Profit after taxation attributable  
to equity shareholders – – – 698 698

Share-based compensation (note 20) – – – 236 236

Issue of ordinary shares 13,334 – – – 13,334

Share issue expenses – (1,184) – – (1,184)

At 31 December 2010 26,331 37,101 11,118 (42,768) 31,782

for the year ended 31 December 2010
Company Statement of Changes in Equity
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 have been prepared and approved by the Directors 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations, and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable 
to companies reporting under IFRS. The date of the Group’s transition to IFRS was 1 January 2006. As provided by IFRS 3 
“Business Combinations”, goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to the date of the Group’s transition to IFRS on  
1 January 2006 is stated at the net book value at that date.

The Company is taking advantage of the exemption in s.408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present its individual 
statement of comprehensive income. The Company profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 is £698,000  
(2009 loss £1,149,000)

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, revised for use of fair values where required by 
applicable IFRS. The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling to the nearest thousand (£000), except 
where otherwise indicated. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of Preparation – Financing
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the Group will continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The Group expects to be cash consumptive over the next few years as it plans to meet employment and certain operational 
costs, as well as support its main trading subsidiaries through intra-group funding, in order to pursue its principal objectives of 
obtaining regulatory approval for Aorfix™ in the USA, launching Aorfix™ onto the US market and increasing sales in the main 
European markets. The net £24.0 million placing and subscription announced in April is split into two tranches. The first tranche of 
£10.4 million after expenses of £0.7 million has been committed subject to shareholder approval of the placing and subscription 
at the general meeting on 6 May. The second tranche of £13.6 million after expenses of £0.6 million will be received upon the 
Company receiving FDA approval for AorfixTM provided that if the Company initially receives a restricted indication to treat only 
those patients with tortuous anatomy there is no major reason to indicate that a wider indication could not be achieved by  
30 September 2013. As noted in the Finance Director’s report the Directors are confident that the placing and subscription will be 
approved by shareholders and the first tranche received. Along with existing cash balances the net proceeds of the first tranche 
of £10.4 million are sufficient to fund the business for at least a year and as such the financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis on the grounds that the Directors’ believe that the Group has sufficient funds for the foreseeable future.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at  
31 December each year. The purchase method of accounting is used for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Control comprises the power to govern the financial and 
operational policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect 
ownership of voting rights, or by way of contractual agreement. The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting year as the Company using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line 
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been 
eliminated in full.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are the measurement and impairment of indefinite life 
intangible assets (including goodwill), the estimation of share-based compensation expense, the fair value of unlisted 
equity investments and the treatment of R&D expenditure in line with the relevant accounting policy.

Intangible Assets – Goodwill on Acquisition
The Group determines whether indefinite-life intangible assets are impaired on an annual basis and this requires the 
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the intangible assets are allocated which in turn 
involves estimation of future cash flows and choosing a suitable discount rate.

• Share-Based Compensation Expenses
The estimation of share-based compensation expense requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model, 
consideration as to the inputs necessary for the valuation model chosen and the estimation of the number of awards 
that will ultimately vest, inputs based on judgements relating to the probability of meeting performance conditions and 
the continuing participation of employees.
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• Research and Development Expenditure
The treatment of research and development expenditure requires an assessment of the expenditure in order to determine 
whether or not it is appropriate to capitalise onto the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 38. 

• Financial Assets – Investments
The fair value of unlisted equity investments requires estimation of that company’s future results and/or the price at which 
future equity is issued.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue represents the amount receivable from the sale of medical devices, services provided and the licensing of 
technology, net of trade discounts and sales-related taxes. Revenue is recognised as follows:

• Royalty and Licence Income
Income arising from a licence agreement is recognised when receivable under the terms of a contract and when all 
related obligations have been fulfilled. Royalty income is recognised on a received basis and represents income earned 
as a percentage of product sales in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement.

• Product Sales
Product sales are recognised when goods are delivered to customers and net of any provision for estimated returns. Sales 
include products used in trials provided the supply is under a separate contract and payment arrangements.

Research & Development Expenditure
Research expenditure is charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it is incurred. The Group 
considers that the regulatory, technical and market uncertainties inherent in the development and commercialisation of 
new products mean that development costs incurred to date have not yet met the relevant capitalisation criteria and so 
should not be capitalised as intangible fixed assets and consequently expenditure on research and development has been 
expensed as incurred.

Goodwill
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to 1 January 2006 is stated at net book value at that date. Goodwill arising on 
the acquisition of subsidiary or associate undertakings and business subsequent to 1 January 2006, representing any excess 
of the fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, is capitalised. 
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment annually.

Intangible Assets – Intellectual Property and Licences
Intellectual property and licence fee payments made to third parties are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful life of the patents on the related products or processes. The economic life used for this purpose is ten years. 
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of depreciation. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset 
and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Depreciation is provided on all 
property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over its expected useful life as follows:

Plant and equipment  three to ten years 
Office and IT equipment  three to five years

Impairment of Assets
The carrying values of fixed assets are reviewed for impairment where there is an indication that the assets might be 
impaired. First-year and annual impairment reviews are conducted for acquired goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 
assets. Impairment is determined by reference to the higher of net realisable value and value in use, which is measured by 
reference to discounted cash flows. An indicative Directors’ estimate of value has been used in these financial statements 
for unlisted investments due to the considerable uncertainties attaching to future cash flows. Included within the Directors’ 
estimate of value are external factors, including subscriptions by other external investors and the performance of quoted 
equity markets. Any provision for impairment is charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year. 

Investments in Subsidiaries
In the Company’s financial statements investments are carried at historic cost less any provision for impairment. Such 
investments include both investments in shares issued by the subsidiary undertaking and other parent entity interests that 
in substance form part of the parent entity’s investment in the subsidiary. These include investments in the form of interest-
free loans which have no fixed repayment terms and have been provided to the subsidiary undertakings as an additional 
source of long-term capital. Losses relating to impairment are immediately recognised in the Company’s statement of 
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

1 Accounting Policies continued

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand together with short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to cash.

Financial assets – investments
Financial assets available for sale are stated at fair value where this can be determined by reference to an active market. 
Investments in unlisted equity instruments are measured at cost, less any provision for impairment in value, as their fair 
value cannot be reliably measured. Losses relating to impairment are immediately recognised as an expense in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign Currencies
A Group undertaking has a functional currency of US dollars that is different to the Group’s presentational currency of sterling.

Monetary assets and liabilities of subsidiary undertakings in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rates of 
exchange for the year. Differences on exchange arising from the retranslation of the opening net investment in subsidiary 
companies, and from the translation of the results of those companies at average rate, are taken to reserves and, where 
material, are reported in the statement of changes in equity. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into sterling and recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary balances, at the year-end, are 
translated into sterling at the closing rate of exchange. Exchange differences are taken to the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise.

Operating Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis and 
includes transport and handling costs. In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure including 
production overheads. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories. Items 
purchased for use in research and development are held in inventory and expensed when used.

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at the lower of their original invoiced value and recoverable 
amount. Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to recover balances in full. 
Balances are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as remote.

Government Grants
Government grants are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as and when received and are matched 
with the expenditure to which they are intended to contribute.

Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for some of its employees. Contributions payable during the 
year are charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

Taxation
Taxation on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax including tax on capital gains. Current tax is 
the expected tax payable, or recoverable, on the taxable profit/loss and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in 
respect of prior years. Research and development tax credits resulting from the utilisation of research and development 
losses to reclaim payroll taxes are recognised when it is probable they will be received, which, after several years 
experience is on an accruals basis. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary timing differences arising 
from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is possible that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised. Their carrying amount is reviewed at each balance sheet date on the same 
basis. Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis and at the tax rates expected to apply in the period in which 
the asset or liability is settled. It is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except when it relates to items 
credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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Financial and Capital Instruments
The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible instrument is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent 
non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on 
conversion or maturity of the instrument. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option; this is 
recognised and included in shareholder’s equity.

Capital instruments are included at cost, adjusted for discount accretion or premium amortisation. Interest/appropriations 
thereon and the premium or discount, where relevant, is taken to the statement of comprehensive income so as to 
produce a constant rate of return over the period to the date of expected redemption. Finance costs associated with 
the issue of capital instruments are capitalised/taken to the share premium account and written off to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the period to the expected date of redemption.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are taken to the 
share premium account and shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Share-Based Payments
The Group operates a number of executive share option schemes and has issued a warrant instrument in lieu of 
professional fees related to the placing of preference shares. In accordance with IFRS 2, the cost of equity-settled 
transactions is measured by reference to their fair value at the date at which they are granted, with fair value determined 
using the Hull-White trinomial model. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised over the period until the award 
vests. No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied. At each 
reporting date, the cumulative expense recognised for equity-based transactions reflects the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired and the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Directors at that date, will ultimately vest.

Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported on a basis consistent with the internal reporting used by the chief operating decision 
makers. These have been identified as the executive board members who take operating decisions.

Exceptional Items
Exceptional items are those significant items which are separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable 
a full understanding of the Group’s financial performance. Transactions which may give rise to exceptional items are 
principally impairments of the carrying value, or gains and losses on disposal, of investments. 

Standards and Interpretations
In preparing the consolidated accounts for the current year the Group has adopted the following new IFRS, amendments to 
IFRS and IFRIC interpretations, which have not had a significant effect on the results or net assets of the Group or Company:

• IFRS 3 (revised 2008), Business combinations (effective from 1 July 2009).

• IFRS 5 (Amendment), Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations, and consequential amendment  
to IFRS 1, First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective from 1 July 2009).

• IAS 27 (revised) ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (effective 1 July 2009)

• IFRIC 17, Distributions of non-cash assets to owners (effective from 1 July 2009).

• IFRIC 18, Transfers of assets from customers (effective from 1 July 2009).

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated accounts, the following standards and interpretations, which have not 
been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective:

• IFRS 9, Financial instruments (effective 1 January 2013).

• IAS 24 (revised), Related party disclosures (effective 1 January 2011).

• IAS 32, Financial instruments: presentation (amendment - ‘Classification of rights issues’) (effective 1 February 2010).

• IFRIC 14 (Amendment), Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (effective 1 January 2011)

• IFRIC 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments (effective 1 July 2010).

Under present circumstances, none of these are expected to have a material impact on the Group or Company’s 
financial statements. 

2 General Information 
The Company is a public limited company listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange and 
is incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of the registered office is 4 Trident Park, Didcot, Oxfordshire OX11 7HJ.
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3 Segmental Reporting
Business Segment
Analyses by operating segment are based on the reports used by the chief operating decision makers identified as the 
executive board members who take operating decisions. Following the sale of the Group’s Polymer Coatings business 
in 2009 the Group has operated in just one segment being the Cardiovascular Devices and Medical Fabrics segment. 
Revenues of this segment consist primarily of sales of the Aorfix™ device whilst those of the Discontinued Operation in 
2009 related to polymer coatings technology. Revenue between segments in 2009 was immaterial. Unallocated in 2009 
includes central costs and net assets which represent Group corporate expenditure or balances related to management 
of the Group which were not attributable to either segment. These costs are separately identified for 2010 for comparative 
purposes only. 

2010 2009

Business Analysis

Cardio– 
vascular 

Devices & 
Medical 

Fabrics
£’000

Un–
allocated

£’000
Group
£’000

Cardio– 
vascular 

Devices & 
Medical 

Fabrics
£’000

Un–
allocated

£’000

Continued 
Operations

£’000

Dis–
continued 
operations

£’000
Group
£’000

Revenue 3,007 – 3,007 2,351 – 2,351 9 2,360

Operating loss before 
investment related 
items

(6,927) (1,815) (8,742) (6,011) (1,661) (7,672) (399) (8,071)

Profit on disposal 
of assets

– – – – – – 964 964

Operating loss (6,927) (1,815) (8,742) (6,011) (1,661) (7,672) 565 (7,107)

Net finance 
(expense)/income

– 53 53 – (122) (122) – (122)

Loss before taxation (6,927) (1,762) (8,689) (6,011) (1,783) (7,794) 565 (7,229)

Taxation 821 14 835 995 – 995 35 1,030

Loss for the year (6,106) (1,748) (7,854) (5,016) (1,783) (6,799) 600 (6,199)

Assets 5,838 972 6,810 5,143 1,129 6,272 6 6,278

Liabilities (1,881) (723) (2,604) (1,162) (943) (2,105) (34) (2,139)

Cash 534 5,280 5,814 – 1,349 1,349 – 1,349

Net assets/(liabilities) 4,491 5,529 10,020 3,981 1,535 5,516 (28) 5,488

Capital expenditure 99 – 99 18 – 18 – 18

Depreciation 72 – 72 192 – 192 24 216

Amortisation 44 – 44 46 – 46 – 46

Capital expenditure above includes additions in the UK to property, plant and equipment.

Reportable segment is reconciled to total assets as follows:

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Segment assets for reportable segment 5,838 5,143

Discontinued operations – 6

Unallocated:

 - Financial Assets – available for sales 850 850

 - Other receivables 29 46

 - Prepayments and accrued income 93 233

Total assets per the balance sheet 6,810 6,278
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Reportable segment liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Segment liabilities for reportable segment 1,881 1,162

Discontinued operations – 34

Unallocated:

 - Trade payables 174 250

- Other payables 47 46

 - Accruals and deferred income 502 647

Total liabilities per the balance sheet 2,604 2,139

Geographical Segments
Revenue and activity arises as follows:

Segmental Analysis by Country of Origin
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Revenue

United Kingdom 2,852 1,903

United States of America 155 448

3,007 2,351

Loss before taxation

United Kingdom (7,063) (6,120)

United States of America (1,626) (1,674)

(8,689) (7,794)

Net assets/(liabilities)

United Kingdom 10,116 5,557

United States of America (96) (69)

10,020 5,488

Geographical analysis based on the country in which the customer is located is as follows:

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Revenue by Destination

United Kingdom and Europe 2,398 1,552

United States of America 161 455

Rest of World 448 344

3,007 2,351

Revenue by Type

Product sales 3,000 2,344

Licence income 7 7

3,007 2,351
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4 Operating Loss

Expenses by Nature
2010

£’000
2009 

£’000

Changes in inventories (247) 51

Raw materials and components used 2,399 1,731

Subcontract research and development expenses 1,796 1,660

Employee costs 4,753 3,746

Depreciation and amortisation charges 116 238

Other operating expenses 2,932 2,597

11,749 10,023

Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 72 192

Amortisation of licences 44 46

Research and development expenditure 5,201 4,706

Grant income (2) (10)

Foreign exchange loss 37 67

Operating lease rentals

 - Motor vehicles 43 39

 - Land and buildings 164 186

 - Other assets 3 2

Fees payable to the Company’s Auditors

 - for audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements 48 48

 - for audit of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 3 3

Redundancy costs – 350

Share-based compensation expense/(credit) 236 (22)

Amounts paid to the Company’s Auditors in respect of non-audit fees for work provided to the Company and its 
subsidiaries, amounted to £88,320 (2009: £nil) in respect of transaction related services, £2,000 (2009: £1,000) for non-
statutory audit work, and £16,600 (2009: £14,000) in respect of tax services. All of these were charged as operating 
expenses except for those in respect of transaction-related services which was set against the share premium account.

5 Directors’ Emoluments

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Fees 210 156

Salary 390 354

Bonuses 144 30

Pension contributions 29 30

Benefits in kind 7 3

780 573

The highest paid director received emoluments of £302,000 (2009: £177,000) and pension contributions of £7,000 (2009: £16,000).

The remuneration of the Executive Directors is set by the Remuneration Committee. Full details of the Directors’ 
remuneration and options are contained in the Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 30.
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6 Employee Information
The average monthly number of people (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group and by the Company. 

Company Group

2010
Number

2009
Number

2010
Number

2009
NumberBy activity

Manufacture – – 24 22

Selling, marketing and distribution – – 13 11

Research and development – – 20 17

Business development and administration 3 3 10 10

3 3 67 60

Staff costs for the above persons were:

Company Group 

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Wages and salaries 658 469 3,823 2,850

Social security costs 62 64 343 331

Other pensions costs 60 42 275 237

Termination cost – – 76 350

Share-based compensation expense/(credit) 236 (22) 236 (22)

1,016 553 4,753 3,746

Key Management Compensation
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Salaries and short-term benefits 802 605

Post employment benefits 29 31

Share-based compensation expense/(credit) 151 (52)

982 584

7 Finance Costs

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Interest payable and related expenses

Convertible loan notes 2009 – 41

Amortisation convertible loan notes 2009 issue costs – 111

Interest payable and related expenses – 152
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8 Taxation on Loss on Ordinary Activities
The credit of £821,000 (2009: £995,000) relates to the utilisation of UK tax losses from research and development 
expenditure to reclaim payroll taxes paid in prior years of £121,000 (2009: £245,000) and £700,000 for the current year (2009: 
£750,000).

Taxation losses carried forward at the end of the year amounted to approximately £44 million (2009: £39 million) and the 
unrecognised deferred tax asset at 28% is approximately £12 million (2009: £11 million). No deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of these losses as the Directors consider it is, as yet, uncertain whether the losses will be utilised. Tax 
losses would be utilised in future periods against trading profits.

The current tax credit of £821,000 (2009: £995,000) is higher than the standard UK corporation rate of 28% (2009: 28%) 
applied to the loss for the year. The differences are explained below:

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Loss before tax for the period at 28% (2009: 28%) (2,433) (2,182)

Additional deduction for research and development expenditure (704) (650)

Amounts not deductible for tax purposes 39  132

Payroll taxes recoverable at a lower effective rate of 14% (2009: 14%) 822 758

Losses carried forward 1,576 1,192

Prior year credit (121) (245)

(821) (995)
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9. Discontinued Operation
On 30 November 2009 PolyBioMed Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, sold its business together with assets as a going 
concern. In accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations”, this business was 
classified as discontinued in the prior year.

i. The results of the discontinued operation, which have been included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, are as follows:

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Revenue – 9

Cost of sales – –

Gross profit – 9

Research and development expenses – (278)

Other administrative expenses – (130)

Profit on disposal of fixed assets on sale of business – 964

Total operating credit – 556

Profit before taxation – 565

Tax credit 14 35

Profit from discontinued operation 14 600

ii. The profit from discontinued operation is stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of plant and equipment – 24

Grant income – (12)

Operating lease rentals – land and buildings – 39

Redundancy costs – 130

iii. Employees and employee costs included in discontinued operation were as follows:

Number Number

Employees – 4

Employee costs £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries – 115

Social security costs – 12

Pension costs – 5

Redundancy costs – 130

– 262
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10 Loss per Share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares. The diluted earnings per ordinary share are identical to those used for the basic earnings per 
ordinary share as the exercise of share options and warrants would have the effect of reducing the loss per ordinary share 
and are therefore not dilutive.

Reconciliations of the losses and weighted average number of shares used on the calculations are set out below:

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Continuing operations

Loss for the financial year £’000 (7,868) (6,799)

Weighted average number of shares (‘000) 2,061,448 774,498

Basic and diluted loss per share (pence) (0.38) (0.88)

Discontinued operation

Profit for the financial year £’000 14 600

Weighted average number of shares (‘000) 2,061,448 744,498

Basic and diluted profit per share (pence) – 0.08

On 20 April 2011 the Company will announce a two-tranche placing and subscription to raise £25.3 million before 
expenses; further details of which are outlined in note 25. 

11 Intangible Assets

Group

Goodwill on 
Acquisition

£’000

Intellectual 
Property and 

Licences
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2009 4,414 485 4,899

At 31 December 2009 and 2010 4,414 485 4,899

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2009 2,292 200 2,492

Charge for year – 46 46

At 31 December 2009 2,292 246 2,538

Charge for year – 44 44

At 31 December 2010 2,292 290 2,582

Net book value

At 31 December 2010 2,122 195 2,317

At 31 December 2009 2,122 239 2,361

At 1 January 2009 2,122 285 2,407

Impairment Test for Goodwill on Acquisition
Goodwill is wholly allocated to the cardiovascular devices and medical fabrics segment in both 2010 and 2009.

The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on the value-in-use calculation using cash flow 
projections for the cardiovascular devices and medical fabrics segments of the business based on forecasts prepared by 
management up until the business is regarded to be in a steady state (ten years) from which point a long-term growth 
rate of 5% has been used to calculate a terminal value. Due to the developmental nature of the product a period in 
excess of 5 years has been used. The forecast assumes that Aorfix™ gains a 15% share of the European and US market for 
endovascular stent grafts by 2019 based on its unique ability to treat patients with tortuous anatomy. A discount rate of 
15% has been used to discount the cash flows to generate a net present value.
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 12 Property, Plant and Equipment

Group

Plant and 
equipment 

£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2009 1,336

Additions 18

Disposal – discontinued operation (225)

At 31 December 2009 1,129

Additions 99

Disposal (12)

At 31 December 2010 1,216

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2009 982

Charge 216

Disposal – discontinued operation (225)

At 31 December 2009 973

Charge 72

Disposal (12)

At 31 December 2010 1,033

Net book value

At 31 December 2010 183

At 31 December 2009 156

At 1 January 2009 354
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13 Investments in Subsidiary Undertakings

Company

Loans to 
Subsidiaries

£’000

Investments in 
Subsidiaries 

£’000
Total

£’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2009 41,188 2,053 43,241

Capitalisation of loans (2,561) 2,561 –

Advances in year 4,034 – 4,034

At 31 December 2009 42,661 4,614 47,275

Advances in year 8,796 – 8,796

At 31 December 2010 51,457 4,614 56,071

Impairment

At 1 January 2009 29,603 – 29,603

Transfer between categories (1,711) 1,711 –

Released in year (635) – (635)

At 31 December 2009 27,257 1,711 28,968

At 31 December 2010 27,257 1,711 28,968

Net book value

At 31 December 2010 24,200 2,903 27,103

At 31 December 2009 15,404 2,903 18,307

At 1 January 2009 11,585 2,053 13,638

The impairment released in 2009 relates to the sale of the subsidiary business and higher realisation of the intercompany 
loan than previously expected.

Interests in Group undertakings
The following subsidiary undertakings have been included in the Group consolidation. All interests are held directly in the 
form of ordinary shares.

Name of undertaking Principal area of activity Country of incorporation
Lombard Medical Limited* Medical implants Great Britain
PolyBioMed Limited Dormant from 1 December 2009 Great Britain
LionMedical Limited Investment holding company Great Britain 
Lombard Medical Technologies Inc Medical implants USA
Culzean Medical Devices Limited Medical fabrics Great Britain

All of the subsidiaries are wholly owned by Lombard Medical Technologies PLC. The above companies operate principally 
in their country of incorporation. All interests are held by the Company. 

*Formerly Anson Medical Limited
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14 Financial Assets – Available for Sale
Investments – Unquoted 

Group £’000

Cost

At 1 January 2009 2,563

At 31 December 2009 2,563

At 31 December 2010 2,563

Impairment 

At 1 January 2009 1,713

At 31 December 2009 1,713

At 31 December 2010 1,713

Net book value

At 31 December 2010 850

At 31 December 2009 850

At 1 January 2009 850

At 31 December 2010 the Group held 9.4% (2009: 9.4%) of the ordinary share capital of Vascular Concepts Holdings 
Limited (investment carrying value of £850,000), a company incorporated in the Isle of Man that is the holding company 
for companies engaged in the development and marketing of medical devices principally in India. The investment is 
not readily realisable, being unquoted, and values can only be indicative of future prospects. The audited consolidated 
financial statements of Vascular Concepts Holdings Limited record a profit before tax of £149,000 for the year ended  
31 March 2009 and net assets of £5,548,000 at that date. The audit opinion was qualified in respect of a limitation of scope 
relating to a US subsidiary. Consolidated financial statements for periods post 31 March 2009 are not available. 

15 Inventories

Group
2010

£’000
2009 

£’000

Raw materials 546 394

Finished goods 1,148 1,053

1,694 1,447

2010
£’000

2009
£’000

Cost of inventories recognised as expense included in:

Cost of sales 1,466 1,227

Selling, marketing and distribution expenses 277 262

Research and development expenses 409 293

2,152 1,782
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16 Trade and Other Receivables

2010 2009

Group 
£’000

Company
 £’000

Group 
£’000

Company 
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade receivables 782 – 246 –

Other receivables 64 29 116 46

Prepayments and accrued income 220 93 352 233

1,066 122 714 279

Trade receivables are stated net of an impairment provision of £76,000 (2009: £61,000). Debtor days at the year end were 
62 days (2009: 50 days). Provisions of £125,000 (2009: £19,000) were made and £82,000 released (2009: £49,000) in the year.

Trade receivables are individually assessed for impairment. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is 
the carrying value of the receivable. The customer base is split between public sector and distributors and is such that 
payment terms can be exceeded. It is considered that the majority of past due debt is still likely to be collected. The 
ageing of trade receivables including past due but not impaired is:

2010 
£’000

2009 
£’000

Not past due 448 176

Past due 0-60 days 334 70

Past due over 60 days – –

782 246

17 Trade and Other Payables

2010 2009

Group 
£’000

Company 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Company 
£’000

Trade payables 1,335 174 868 250

Other taxation and social security 91 – 75 –

Other payables 131 47 132 46

Accruals and deferred income 1,047 502 1,064 646

2,604 723 2,139 942

Pension contributions of £41,000 (2009: £41,000) are included for the Group in accruals and deferred income.

18 Financial Instruments
Capital Management
The Group considers capital to comprise the total equity and reserves. The Group’s objectives are to manage capital as a 
primary source of funding in conjunction with the ability to remain as a going concern.

Treasury Policy
The Group has financed its operations by a mixture of shareholders’ funds, bank and other borrowings and loan notes, 
as required. The Group’s objective has been to obtain sufficient funding to meet development activities and initial 
commercialisation costs until the Group becomes profitable. During 2010 and for the foreseeable future the Group’s 
objective in using financial instruments is to safeguard the principal for funds held on deposit and to minimise exchange-
rate risk where appropriate.

The Group currently has no derivatives and it is not the Group policy to actively trade in derivatives.
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Interest Rate Risk 
The Group currently has no outstanding loans and invests its surplus funds in money market and short-term bank deposits. 
In the past it has used a variety of fixed rate loans and floating rate debt as funding sources. The Group would review the 
balance between fixed and floating rate debt if it takes on any future debt.

Liquidity Risk 
The Group prepares periodic working capital forecasts for the foreseeable future, allowing an assessment of the cash 
requirements of the Group, to manage liquidity risk. The Group also ensures that sufficient funds are available on 24 hours’ 
notice to fund the Group’s immediate needs.

Currency Risk
The Group is currently exposed to limited currency risk through foreign currency transactions. As the Group’s level of foreign 
currency transactions increases the currency risk will be managed by holding foreign currency deposits and seeking to 
hedge significant transactional exposures.

Credit Risk
The Group places its deposits only with established financial institutions with high credit ratings.

Interest Rate Risk of Financial Assets

2010 2009

Cash at Bank 
and in Hand

£’000

Other
£’000

Cash at Bank 
and in Hand

£’000

Other
£’000

Floating rate – USD 122 – 157 –

Floating rate – EUR 134 – 94 –

Floating rate – GBP 5,558 850 1,098 850

5,814 850 1,349 850

The cash and bank balances earn interest at the prevailing short-term market interest rates.

The other floating rate financial assets represent the unquoted investments.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Book value 
£’000

Fair value 
£’000

Book value 
£’000

Fair value 
£’000

Cash deposits 5,814 5,814 1,349 1,349

Financial assets – available for sale 850 850 850 850

Trade and other receivables 1,066 1,066 714 714

Trade and other payables (2,513) (2,513) (2,064) (2,064)

5,217 5,217 849 849

The fair value of the unquoted investments has been established from the book value written down to the estimated 
recoverable amount (see note 14).

Cash deposits – the majority of the cash holdings are with one institution which has a Standard & Poor’s short term credit 
rating of A-1+.
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19 Equity
i) Share Capital

2010
Number of 

Shares

2010
Nominal 

Value 
£’000

2009
Number of 

Shares

2009
Nominal 

Value 
£’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid

Ordinary shares of 1 pence each 2,174,694,973 21,747 841,304,766 8,413

A Deferred shares of 0.862 pence each 373,857,388 3,223 373,857,388 3,223

B Deferred shares of 1 pence each 136,186,011 1,361 136,186,011 1,361

2,684,738,372 26,331 1,351,348,165 12,997

On 1 February 2010 references to authorised share capital were deleted from the Company’s memorandum and 
articles of association.

On 26 January 2009 a capital reorganisation, issue of new ordinary shares and issue of convertible loan notes were 
approved at a general meeting of the Company that included:

i) the re-designation of the existing issued deferred shares of 0.862 pence to A deferred shares;

ii) the subdivision of the existing ordinary shares of 2 pence each into one new ordinary share of 1 pence and  
one new B deferred share of 1 pence;

iii) the subdivision of the unissued ordinary shares of 2 pence each into two new ordinary shares of 1 pence each;

iv) an increase in the authorised share capital of the Company to £14,600,000 by the creation of an additional 
360,000,000 new ordinary shares of 1 pence each;

v) the issue of 588,234,835 new ordinary shares of 1 pence each for a total consideration of £5,882,000; and 

vi) the issue at par of £500,000 of unsecured convertible redeemable loan notes 2014.

Pursuant to the fundraising approved at the general meeting in January 2009 the Company exercised its right to convert 
the outstanding £1.652 million of unsecured convertible redeemable loan notes 2009 issued in October 2008 into ordinary 
shares with each 2.5 pence nominal of loan notes being converted into one fully paid ordinary share of 1 pence each. This 
resulted in the issue of 66,883,920 new ordinary shares of 1 pence each in February 2009.

In May 2009 the Company received notice from the holder of the unsecured redeemable loan notes issued in January 
2009 of their wish to convert the loan notes into ordinary shares. Each one pence nominal value of loan notes was duly 
converted into one fully paid ordinary share of 1 pence resulting in the issue of 50,000,000 ordinary shares.

New share capital issued during the period was as follows:

Number of 
Shares

Nominal Value
 £’000

Consideration 
or Fair Value 

£’000

Ordinary shares of 1 pence each

Issued to investors on 1 February 2010 at 1 pence per share 1,333,390,207 13,334 13,334

At 1 January 2010 841,304,766 8,413

At 31 December 2010 2,174,694,973 21,747
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Ordinary Shares
Voting: in a show of hands every holder has one vote and in a poll each share has one vote.

Dividends: each ordinary share has the right to receive dividends.

Return on capital: each ordinary share has the right to share in a liquidation of the Company’s assets.

Deferred Shares
Voting: deferred shares do not entitle the holders to attend or vote at any general meeting of the Company.

Dividends: deferred shares do not entitle the holder to receive any dividend or other distribution.

Return on capital: on a winding up the holders of deferred shares are only entitled to the amount paid up on each 
deferred share after the holders of the ordinary shares have received the sum of £1 million for each ordinary share.

Post Balance Sheet Share Issues 
On 20 April 2011 the Company will announce a placing and subscription that may raise up to £25.3 million before 
expenses in two tranches if approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 6 May 2011; further details of which are 
given in note 25.

ii) Share Premium Account
This consists of the proceeds from the issue of shares in excess of their par value less associated issue costs.

iii) Other Reserves
£11,118,000 arose on the conversion of convertible preference shares to ordinary shares and represents the difference 
between the fair value of the preference shares and the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued. £224,000 represented 
the net present value of the equity component of the convertible loan notes 2009 issued in October 2008 calculated using 
a discount rate of 18% that was transferred to the share premium account on conversion of the loan notes to equity in 
February 2009.
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20 Share Options and Warrants
Warrants

Over Number of 
Ordinary Shares

Exercise Price Per 
Share (Pence) Date of Expiry

Issued in 2005 in lieu of fees to Nomura Code 144,900 14.49 –

“B” warrants issued to share subscribers in 2007 4,429,198 37.0 15 June 2012

“B” warrants issued to Seven Hills Partners LLC in 2007 151,960 37.0 15 June 2012

On 15 June 2010 4,581,158 “A” warrants issued in 2007 to subscribers and Seven Hills Partners LLC expired.
Nomura Code Securities Limited will be entitled to commission of 4% of funds raised on exercise of 2,850,000 “B” warrants.

Options
The Company’s Directors, officers, employees and a former Director hold options under the Lombard Medical 
Technologies PLC Share Option Plan, known as the “Existing Plan” and the Lombard Medical Technologies PLC Share 
Option Plan (2005), known as the “2005 Plan”, to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company as shown below. The 
Directors’ interests in these options are detailed in the Remuneration Report along with an outline of the terms and 
conditions attaching to the options.

2010 2009

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Shares Under 
Option

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Shares Under 
Option

At beginning of year 1.48p 114,396,401 33.6p 15,122,559

Options granted 1.039p 176,298,820 1.17p 114,089,691

Options lapsed/cancelled 3.068p (13,661,124) 35.9p (14,815,849)

At end of year 1.121p 277,034,097 1.48p 114,396,401

The outstanding options at 31 December 2010 were granted as follows:

Date of Grant
Exercise Price 

(pence)
Exercise 

Period
2010 

Numbers
2009 

Numbers

9 November 2005 14.5 2005-2010 – 980,623

17 July 2007 23 2007-2017 401,087 1,051,087

28 January 2009 1.125 2009-2019 68,762,500 78,712,500

12 October 2009 1.275 2009-2019 33,652,191 33,652,191

5 February 2010 1.042 2010-2020 147,269,913 –

21 June 2010 1.025 2010-2020 26,948,406 –

277,034,097 114,396,401

None of the outstanding options were exercisable at 31 December 2010 (2009: 1,630,623). 

The fair value of the options was determined using the Hull-White pricing model. The share-based compensation expense 
for the year is £236,000 (2009: credit £22,000). The main assumptions used in the fair value calculations are noted in the 
tables below.

Year of grant

2005 Plan 2010 2009

Weighted average share price of grants during the year 1.039p 1.170p

Expected volatility 50-76% 100-293%

Option life Ten years Ten years

Expected dividends Nil Nil

Risk-free interest rate 3.3-5.0% 3.1%

Expected volatility has been calculated by reference to the Company’s historic share price and industry norms. The risk-
free interest rate is calculated by reference to UK government bonds. Expectation of the cancellation of options has been 

considered in determining the fair value expense charge in the statement of comprehensive income.
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21 Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

Group
2010

£’000
2009

£’000

Continuing operations

Loss before taxation (8,689) (7,794)

Depreciation and amortisation of licences 116 238

Share-based compensation expense/(credit) 236 (22)

Net finance (income)/expense (53) 122

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (247) 48

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (352) 101

Increase/(decrease) in payables 465 (193)

Net cash used in continuing operations (8,524) (7,500)

Research and development tax credits 871 1,145

Net cash used in continuing operating activities (7,653) (6,355)

Discontinued operation

Profit/(loss) before taxation 565

Depreciation 24

Profit on disposal of assets (964)

Decrease in inventories 3

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 50

Decrease in payables (15)

Net cash used in discontinued operation – (337)

Research and development tax credits 14 35

Net cash generated/(used) in discontinued operating activity 14 (302)

Net cash used in all operating activities (7,639) (6,657)

Company
2010 

£’000
2009 

£’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation 698 (998)

Share-based compensation expense/(credit) 236 (22)

Net finance income (53) (29)

Impairment (credit) – (635)

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 157 (155)

(Decrease)/increase in payables (219) 378

Net cash generated/(used) in operating activities 819 (1,461)

22 Related Party Disclosures
Subsidiary Undertakings
Group personnel, corporate and certain premises costs are incurred by the Company, recharges are made to the 
subsidiaries.

The subsidiaries are funded by loans from the Company and no interest has thus far been is charged.

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company are disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 28.



23 Financial Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
At 31 December 2010 the Group was committed to make the following minimum payments in respect of non-cancellable 
operating leases:

2010 2009

Land and 
Buildings 

£’000

Other 
£’000

Land and 
Buildings 

£’000

Other 
£’000

Expiring within one year 10 2 54 4

Expiring between two and five years inclusive 257 78 343 9

267 80 397 13

24 Capital Commitments
At 31 December 2010 neither the Group nor Company had any capital commitments (2009: £nil). 

25 Post Balance Sheet Events
On 20 April 2011 the Company will announce a placing and subscription that may raise up to £25.3 million before expenses 
in two tranches if approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 6 May 2011. In the first tranche 1,590.3 million 
ordinary shares will be issued at a price of 0.7 pence each on 31 May 2011 raising £11.1 million before expenses of  
£0.7 million. All investors in the first tranche will commit to invest in a second tranche of £14.2 million before expenses 
upon the Company receiving FDA approval for Aorfix™ provided that if the Company initially receives a restricted 
indication to treat only those patients with tortuous anatomy there is no major reason to indicate that a wider indication 
could not be achieved by 30 September 2013. Shares issued in the second tranche will be priced at the lower of  
0.7 pence or the prevailing market price on the day the tranche is drawn down by the Company.

26 Ultimate Controlling Party
The Directors consider that there is no one ultimate controlling party of the Company. 

for the year ended 31 December 2010
Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Information

Lombard Medical Technologies PLC (LMT) is a fast growing 
innovative medical technology company with expertise 
in design, manufacture and commercialisation of cutting 
edge endovascular products. 

Lombard Medical’s flagship product, Aorfix™ endovascular 
stent graft, addresses previously unmet clinical need for 
a conformable and flexible graft in the rapidly developing 
global abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) market. 

Aorfix™ combines a pioneering design and technology 
that result in outstanding clinical performance in EVAR 
(Endovascular Aortic Repair) patients with complex anatomy.

The only endovascular stent graft approved in EU to 
treat complex aneurysms up to 90°, Aorfix™ broadens 
clinicians’ treatment options and opens opportunities for 
treating more patients less invasively with EVAR. 

Over 1,600 patients worldwide have been treated with 
Aorfix™ and a growing body of clinical evidence confirms 
that Aorfix™ reduces EVAR complications such as proximal 
endoleaks, graft migration and iliac occlusion in patients 
with both standard and complex AAA anatomies. 
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